Bottom of the Barrel: The Hidden Costs of Petroleum Use in California



Kern County Oil field, 1938. Prints and Photographs Division, Library of Congress (LC-USF34-018521-E)



AUTHOR John Shears, Research Coordinator, Center for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Technologies

October 2006

Acknowledgments

Many thanks for the contributions and insight provided by Don Fields, John Shahabian, Paul Vercruyssen, V. John White and Carl Zichella. We also owe a special gratitude to the Sierra Club Foundation for its generous funding which made this work possible.

The complete report is available on line at www.sierraclub.org/ca/oilreport and www.ceert.org

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3..... EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 7.....CALIFORNIA'S TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
- 7.....PETROLEUM PRODUCTION AND USE
- 9.....OIL INDUSTRY PROFITS AND HOW IT USES THEM

12..... THE IMPACTS CAUSED BY THE USE OF OIL

- 12.....CALIFORNIA'S AIR QUALITY
- 15..... THE HIDDEN COSTS OF AIR QUALITY
- 16..... THE HIDDEN COST OF TRANSPORTATION

18..... THE PETROLEUM SUPPLY CHAIN

- 18.....1: Exploration, development, and production
- 21.....2: Shipping and Storing Oil and Refined Oil Products
- 24...... 3: The Refinery
- 26.....4: The Use of Petroleum Derived Fuels in Transportation
- 27......WHAT ARE THE ALTERNATIVES?
- 29..... CONCLUSION
- 32..... APPENDIX A
- 34..... APPENDIX B
- 36.....ENDNOTES

<u>Report Updates</u>: This report presents a current snapshot of findings from a research project in progress. CEERT continues to work with others in public health, environmental, and scientific fields to assess and report on the true impacts and costs of our over reliance on petroleum for transportation fuels. Much work remains to be done to refine the definitition and scope of those impacts. As such, this report will be revised as additional information becomes available. Readers are encouraged to refer to the most current updated report on our website at: http://www.ceert.org.

Executive Summary

The weekly trip to the gas station has become a vivid reminder of the increasing cost of oil. But the cost of California's oil addiction goes far beyond the price at the pump and is paid by each Californian in the form of air quality impacts, congestion in our cities, health care related to pollution, national defense spending to maintain access to foreign resources, global warming and other environmental damage. Perhaps the biggest price is a political system that serves the oil companies before the people of California. This political power is wielded in ways which prevent California, the largest consumer of gasoline in the United States, from escaping from the grip of its fossil fuel monopoly.

Though the total bill for California has not been calculated, the impact to our people, our environment, and the economy is clearly massive, and easily reaches into the billions of dollars per year. The oil companies do their best to hide these facts and deflect the blame onto others but the answer to many of these problems lies in finding alternatives to oil.

The Economic Costs

The economic costs of oil addiction filter through our entire economy, affecting all of California's citizens. California consumes far more gasoline than any other state; so much gasoline in fact that every penny increase in a gallon of gas costs the state's consumers roughly \$160 million last year. The magnitude of such a cost sets our state up for massive economic shocks as oil and petroleum supplies become more constrained. Put another way, between 2004 and 2005 the average price of gasoline in California went up 35 cents, which cost the state's consumers roughly an additional \$5.5 billion dollars in that one year. That's \$5.5 billion dollars going to the oil companies from the pockets of Californians. The record \$39.3 billion Californians spent on gasoline in 2005 is sure to be eclipsed again this year with the average price running another 39 cents higher.

Our transportation system also has huge economic costs. In Los Angeles one of the nation's most crowded and polluted cities, traffic congestion costs the average rush hour driver \$1,598 per year, and adds up to \$10.6 billion for the cities commuters as a whole. Across all of California's major metropolitan areas these costs added up to a whopping \$17.3 billion in 2003. Even with regional planning incorporating smart land use there is a cost. Work conducted for the six county Sacramento Area Council of Governments determined that the total hidden costs of transportation in 2025 would be an estimated \$2.5 billion and \$9.5 billion per year. California has 58 counties and the cumulative for the state cost will certainly be enormous.

Health Impacts

The California Air Resources Board estimates that hospitalizing and treating patients for illnesses related to air pollution exposure in the state costs the state of California roughly \$2.3 billion per year. The Board also estimates that the state spends \$70 billion a year in order to prevent premature deaths linked to air pollution exposure in excess of the State's particulate matter (PM) and ozone standards.

Looked at on a regional basis, poor air quality can have huge impacts on the state's most polluted air basins. In the San Joaquin Valley, home to some of the state's poorest communities, impacts from oil industry related pollution cost residents roughly \$3 billion per year. The air district has estimated that the cost of fixing this problem in the San Joaquin Valley would cost \$7.5 billion over the next 6 years.

Environmental Impacts

Clearly the biggest environmental threat posed by our addiction to oil comes from global warming. As a consequence transportation accounts for nearly half of California's total energy use and represents the largest source of greenhouse gasses in the state, at slightly more than 40% of the state's total emissions. The global warming implications for California are catastrophic and the true cost of this impact may not be known for generations. California will become hotter and the health of Californian's and their environment will suffer. Winters will become shorter, wetter, and stormier, and summers will become longer, hotter and drier. California's agricultural industry will be placed under stress. California's coasts will be put at risk and its fisheries threatened. The list goes on.

The environmental impact from the refining industry is particularly harsh. California's refineries are the largest generators of industrial hazardous waste in the state, with the 17 largest facilities producing nearly 13 million tons of hazardous waste in 2002. But the impacts go beyond this into the surrounding neighborhoods. The South Coast Air Quality Management District reported 996 public complaints of odors, smoke, and oil fallout, alleging refinery sources in calendar years 2003 and 2004; an average of more than one a day.

Problems with the nation's pipelines also causes significant environmental harm yet receives almost no headlines like the ones written for the recent shutdown of the BP pipeline in Alaska. According to the Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS), roughly 6.7 million gallons are spilled from pipelines per year. That is equal to half the Exxon Valdez each year. In 2006 after only nine months of reporting we have already spilled more than 8 million gallons. Similar spillage occurs along our treasured coasts where oil is extracted and in our ports where the oil is unloaded from tankers.

Cost to Our Political Process

Oil companies are simply willing to spend what it takes to remain top dog inside the Capitol and in campaign politics. Their efforts in California and in Washington, DC have kept alternative fuels hovering at only 6% of transportation fuel supplies. While environmental and public health groups have repeatedly developed policies for conservation and development of alternatives, the oil companies have continued to find ways stop these measures. This happens in the legislature, at regulatory agencies, in elections and in the courts. Recent news stories have left little doubt about their unrivaled power:

The oil and auto industries persuaded (California) to kill or water down the alternative-fuel mandates. Jeffrey Ball, Wall Street Journal, August 3, 2006

Oil company lobbyists have helped tie up or kill almost a dozen bills considered hostile to the industry... Backed by profits last year that ran into the billions of dollars, oil giants like Chevron Corp., ConocoPhillips Co. and Occidental Petroleum – all active in California politics – have almost unlimited resources to throw into political campaigns. Tom Chorneau, San Francisco Chronicle, July 14th, 2006

During the past legislative session the Western States Petroleum Association (WSPA) spent more than \$5 million dollars to defeat every piece of meaningful legislation to provide alternative fuels or increase conservation efforts. Most oil companies spend approximately \$2 million a year on campaign contributions and lobbying expenses combined. On one initiative the oil industry has spent \$68 million in opposition. The incredible spike in political spending, \$28 million by Chevron, \$24 million by Aera (partnership between Shell and Exxon) has helped set a record for spending on a single campaign. All this begs the question, is there any limit to how much these companies are willing to spend to maintain their monopoly on transportation fuel?

The Solutions

With over \$140 billion in profits in 2005 and even more expected there may be no limits to the political resources of the oil industry. While Europe has mandated a 20% reduction in fossil fuel use by 2020, California's energy officials have been left with only making the claim that it could be feasible to achieve a 15% reduction by 2020; if only the state would do something about it. Increased fuel efficiency and alternative fuels could slow demand and increase fuel production capacity if proponents could somehow solve the political problem posed by raw oil industry power. Despite hybrid vehicle technologies, scientific advances that make it possible to "refine" diesel or other transportation fuels from non-fossil fuel sources or what would otherwise be treated as agricultural waste products, consumption of non-petroleum fuels in California has not increased. To put it another way, as a result of industry control of the market and market infrastructure, transportation fuels remain locked in a fossil fuel monopoly safeguarded by billion-dollar-a-month profits and the rawest of political power.

Unless action is taken, the future is frighteningly clear: fuel demand bolstered by population growth and economic activity will place increased pressure on shrinking conventional fossil fuel resources and thus encourage industry to spread its environmentally devastating practices into the world's few remaining undisturbed and pristine ecosystems. In the meantime, the industry will continue to be rewarded with untold profits while gouging consumers and choking the planet with ever increasing levels of air pollutants and global warming emissions. The time has passed by, for well-intended promises, state energy commission "recommendations", and general directives scheduled for far off distant time horizons (assuming we don't run out of fuel before we can get there). Specific hard choices must be made on some basis other than campaign contributions and massive statewide TV buys. This report tells the story of how the state is literally scraping the bottom of California's barrel of oil; its impacts on environmental and public health, and the potential economic consequences of continued reliance on petroleum.

California's transportation system.

Today there are more than 30 million motor vehicles and motorcycles in California using nearly 170,000 miles of public roads to drive more than 400 billion vehicle miles; a distance greater than 2100 trips to the sun and back. At the same time California drivers consumed nearly 20 billion gallons of fuel. This is even with extensive transit systems within the metropolitan areas of the state.¹ California also has more than 1800 miles of coastline, 286 miles of inland waterways, 7,400 miles of rail capable of carrying freight, and 257 public-use airports of which 42 are certified for air carrier operations.²

Given California's role as an important gateway to the Pacific Rim and the size and importance of its economy, the ability to transport freight both to and from domestic and foreign markets has been a key element of its economic success. The state has nine container ports, with the combined Port of Los Angeles/ Long Beach being America's busiest moving up to nine million cargo containers through their shared 7500 acre harbor complex.³ In total there are more than 250,000 vessel trips in California waters each year.⁴ More than two thirds of the value of goods shipped from California is transported by truck, and an additional ~20 percent is shipped via courier services, which rely heavily on the road system.⁵ All of this transportation demand comes with a huge thirst for transportation fuels, a thirst almost entirely met through the use of fuels based on the extraction and processing of crude petroleum oil.

Petroleum Production and Use in California and Throughout the World

California has 21 facilities (20 that are operational) that qualify as petroleum refineries of which 15 process crude oil for the production of transportation fuels that meet California's strict standards.⁶ In-state oil production accounts for slightly less than 40% of the state's consumption of crude oil (roughly 37% of the value of oil sold from in-state refineries), with another 20% coming from Alaska, and the remaining 40% from other countries. Petroleum production in California and Alaska has been in steady decline since the mid to late 1980s and is now at levels last seen in 1943.⁷ During that same time in-state demand for transportation fuel has increased by nearly 50%, reaching nearly 16 billion gallons of gasoline, nearly 3 billion gallons of diesel and just under 4 billion gallons of jet fuel in 2005.⁸ During 2004 California's crude oil imports were nearly 400 million barrels and, in the absence of any new state policy initiatives, could increase to more than 450 million barrels by 2015 and more than 500 million barrels by 2025.⁹

California is the fourth largest producer of petroleum in the United States¹⁰ and competes with Texas for the status of the largest consumer of petroleum and transportation fuels in America.¹¹ While there are more than 48,000 productive wells that produced nearly 256 million barrels a year from oil fields throughout 15 California counties,¹² the state's major sources of petroleum production are located in the Kern County region of the southern San Joaquin Valley, the Los Angeles Basin, and in state and federal waters off the coast of Southern California extending from the coast of Santa Barbara County in the north, to Orange County in the South.¹³ California has 23 offshore oil platforms and 5 artificial oil and gas islands along its coast, with more than 1,400 actively producing wells. Nineteen of the platforms are more than 3 miles from the coast placing them in Federal waters and under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Department of the

[♣] Projections by the California Energy Commission and Public Policy Institute of California indicate that the growth rate in vehicle travel is expected to easily outpace the growth in population.

Interior's Minerals Management Service. The remaining facilities (4 platforms and 5 artificial oil and gas islands) lie within 3 miles of the coast in State waters and are regulated by the California State Lands Commission and the California Department of Conservation's Division of Oil, Gas, and Geothermal Resources.¹⁴

Like all developed and rapidly developing economies California faces the challenge of meeting its transportation energy demands in the face of increasing international competition for the world's remaining reserves of crude oil.¹⁵ No longer is the competition for the world's petroleum limited to just the developed economies of the world.¹⁶ China alone has been responsible for 40% of the increase in demand for the world's petroleum supplies since 2002,¹⁷ and India — the world's sixth largest importer of crude oil — is fast becoming another major player in the international energy markets.¹⁸

It may seem obvious that in order for the future energy demand of the world's major economies to be met, there must be supplies sufficient to at least match the forecasted demand. However, it is not at all clear that this demand can be met through conventional sources for very much longer. There is an intense controversy over what the world's conventional oil and gas reserve levels really are,¹⁹ and estimates for proved oil reserves vary widely with most falling in the range of slightly more than 1 trillion barrels.²⁰ Since oil production first began in the mid to late 1800s, the world has consumed a cumulative total of about 1 trillion barrels,²¹ and at the rate the world is currently consuming oil it will take only another 30 years to consume the next trillion barrels. ψ^{22} Regardless of whether one subscribes to the view that the world is about to run out of conventional supplies of oil or not,²³ the current market situation is reflective of an inability of current total world production to consistently meet total world demand.²⁴ According to the International Energy Agency, the oil industry will have to spend more than \$3 trillion (\$6 trillion if natural gas is included; values in 2004 dollars) for the exploration and development of new resources between 2005 and 2030,²⁵ and the world's largest oil company has noted that the industry will have to "...add some 100 million oil-equivalent barrels per day by 2015 to meet demand – an amount close to 80 percent of today's production levels".²⁶ Meanwhile new oil discoveries have been in decline and the costs of exploration have jumped.²⁷

While it is clear that transportation and the use of fuels derived from petroleum has served an important role in developing California's economy, it has come with a price. Many California residents feel that that price has been most evident with the recent dramatic increase in the price of crude oil especially during the past two years, from a low of around \$30 a barrel to a recent high approaching \$80 a barrel,²⁸ and which they have clearly felt when purchasing fuel at their local gas station.²⁹ And while Californian's, like most American's, likely feel some relief with the recent decline in the price of fuel they should not fail to recognize that this is likely to be only a temporary respite from continued high oil prices.³⁰ However, many Californian's may not be aware of another and significant and hidden cost that comes with the use of petroleum for transportation fuel, and that is the hidden cost that is being paid by the environment both in the United States and in California.¢ Industry practices at the very beginning of the oil discovery process all the way to the fuel pump, come with an enormous environmental cost. Moreover, the latest scientific, medical and economic research is allowing

[•] The dispute is over what can practically and economically be expected to be recoverable in the future.

 $[\]psi$ Assuming no further increase in oil demand. Of course oil demand will continue to increase in which case 1 trillion barrels of conventional proved reserves will not last 30 years.

 $[\]phi$ Not of course forgetting that these practices are employed with greater or lesser responsibility around the globe

us to develop a better understanding of the impacts that the use of petroleum fuels has on public health.

OIL INDUSTRY PROFITS AND HOW IT USES THEM

While the discovery of new proved reserves continues to decline, the ability of the world's petroleum infrastructure to consistently produce sufficient oil to meet the world's ever growing thirst for more oil is operating at maximum capacity. Global refinery capacity is operating at maximal levels, the global tanker vessel fleet is transporting foreign crude to international market as fast as it can, and oil production is usually running at maximum capacity.³¹ Against this backdrop oil prices and oil industry profits and the US trade deficit are at record highs.

The average price of a barrel of crude oil was \$46.78 per barrel in 2005.³² At that price the state's oil companies spent nearly \$2billion dollars on crude oil in 2005. Meanwhile the California Energy Commission estimates that the average price of California gasoline was \$2.47 per gallon in 2005, placing the cost of gasoline to California consumers at slightly more than \$39 billion in 2005.³³ Every 1¢ increase in the price of gasoline costs California consumers just under an additional \$160 million at 2005 consumption levels.³⁴ Oil companies earned gross revenues of \$1.62 trillion and net profits of \$140 billion in 2005.³⁵ Seventy-six percent of the gross revenues, and 81% of the net profits were shared between the five largest integrated oil companies: Exxon-Mobil, Royal Dutch-Shell, BP (Amoco-Arco), Chevron, and Conoco Phillips. Exxon-Mobil alone accounted for 25% of the net profits in 2005. Meanwhile the US trade deficit reached almost \$726 billion in 2005. Nearly one quarter (\$176 billion) of that was to pay for the importation of foreign crude.³⁶ The 2006 trade deficit is running at a similar pace tracking towards \$717 billion. Oil again is being pointed to as an important factor in the deficit. The August trade numbers have been released, and more than \$27 billion of the nearly \$70 billion dollar deficit in trade that month was due to oil.³⁷ The increase in the price of oil added \$70 billion to the 2005 trade deficit over the previous record setting year. It could add \$80-100 billion more in 2006.³⁸ The average price of a barrel of crude oil was \$46.78 per barrel in 2005.³⁹ At that price the state's oil companies spent nearly \$2billion dollars on crude oil in 2005. Meanwhile the California Energy Commission estimates that the average price of California gasoline was \$2.47 per gallon in 2005, placing the cost of gasoline to California consumers at slightly more than \$39 billion in 2005.⁴⁰ Every 1¢ increase in the price of gasoline costs California consumers just under an additional \$160 million at 2005 consumption levels.⁴¹

In recent years there has been a significant consolidation in the US domestic oil industry that in the year 2001⁴² resulted in the five largest oil companies in the US controlling:

- 61% of the domestic retail gasoline market,
- 47% of the domestic oil refinery market, and
- 41% of domestic oil exploration and production.

In 2004 the price increases attributed to this industry consolidation were held responsible for a 25% increase in annual household energy bills and a 35% increase in the annual household cost for petroleum products during the previous 4 years (1999-2003).⁴³ Indeed the Government Accountability Office — the congressional watchdog —found that from the mid-1990s through

2000 the increased market concentration resulting from mergers had generally led to higher wholesale gasoline prices in the United States. For the health-protective reformulated gasolines designed to minimize the air pollution from motor vehicles and sold in the East Coast and Gulf Coast markets, the wholesale price rose by about 1 cent per gallon. Meanwhile, the wholesale price of health protective fuel formulations in California jumped by more than 7 cents per gallon.⁴⁴ Notably, seven oil companies — Chevron, Shell, BP, Conoco Phillips, Valero, Tesoro, and ExxonMobil — controlled 98% of California's fuel market in 2004.⁴⁵

There is evidence to suggest that the US and California oil markets could be entering a phase with parallels eerily familiar to Californian's who experienced the market manipulation that occurred during the state's 2000-2001 energy crisis.⁴⁶ Referring to a spike in gasoline prices experienced in the Midwest during the Spring of 2000, FTC Chairman Robert Pitofsky noted,

"The spike appears to have been caused by a mixture of structural and operating decisions made previously (high capacity utilization, low inventory levels, the choice of ethanol as an oxygenate), unexpected occurrences (pipeline breaks, production difficulties), errors by refiners in forecasting industry supply (misestimating supply, slow reactions), and decisions by firms to maximize their profits (curtailing production, keeping available supply off the market). The damage was ultimately limited by the ability of the industry to respond to the price spike within three or four weeks with increased supply of products. However, if the problem was short-term, so too was the resolution, and similar price spikes are capable of replication. Unless gasoline demand abates or refining capacity grows, price spikes are likely to occur in the future in the Midwest and other areas of the country."⁴⁷

An industry survey similarly found evidence for oil companies allowing conditions to develop that worked to maintain tight supplies with the result that shortfalls led to increased profits,

"Increasing capacity and output to gain market share or to offset the cost of regulatory upgrades is now frowned upon."

"Indeed, many"..."discussants openly questioned the once-universal imperative of a refinery not 'going short' – that is not having enough product to meet market demand. Rather than investing in and operating refineries to ensure that markets are fully supplied all the time, refiners suggested that they were focusing first on ensuring that their branded retailers are adequately supplied by curtailing sales to wholesale markets if needed."⁴⁸

Keeping capacity tight serves to ensure that the few players that remain in the market are almost always assured a profit, even when "mistakes" occur.⁴⁹ This appears to also hold true for the California market. The Office of California's Attorney General determined in its investigation into the state's nation-beating high pump prices that, "refiners maintain lower inventory levels relative to consumption than refiners in the rest of the United States and have reduced inventories in recent years."⁵⁰ The Energy Commission has since found that: unscheduled refinery outages, congestion at marine ports and in the pipeline system led to fuel feedstock shortages that in turn contributed to markedly increased prices during the spring of 2006.⁵¹ A

recent investigation revealed that refinery margins have been slowly increasing even while costs to consumers have been going up.⁵²

The International Energy Agency (IEA) urged in 2003 that oil companies must significantly increase their total investments in exploration and development if they were to meet the long-term growth in demand for crude oil in the coming decades.⁵³ It has repeated this call to arms every year since and recommends that the industry invest an average of \$120 billion per year (\$240 billion if natural gas is included) in exploration and development between 2005 and 2025 in order to keep pace with anticipated demand.⁵⁴ Despite this the largest oil companies have undertaken further acquisitions of either their smaller international competitors or their competitors' proved reserves. This is in order to increase their individual reserve holdings but does nothing to supplement the world's total of new reserves. This pattern continues today. Expenditures on acquisitions of reserves set new records in 2005, rising 13% to reach \$54 billion. Despite this, oil companies found themselves so flush with cash that rather than increasing their budgets for either exploration, or environmental cleanup, they funneled \$128 billion to dividends and stock buybacks. Expenditures on stock buybacks exceeded those for acquisition of proved reserve by almost 20%, and were nearly 80% higher than spending on exploration last year.⁵⁵ While total spending on exploration reached a record \$36 billion in 2005. At 13% of total spending it represented the smallest share of industry investment in this area since 2001 when spending on exploration was at 15%.

When challenged on its low investments in exploration, the petroleum industry protests in its defense that it is prevented from making greater exploration efforts because the governments of nations holding the largest reserves block it's access.⁵⁶ Meanwhile, the national oil companies of countries like China, Russia, India... and soon Pakistan, are moving aggressively forward in developing new resources of this "strategic commodity". At the same time they are competing with the major oil companies for already developed reserves.

Despite acknowledging that it faces the challenges of developing new reserves, the oil industry works aggressively to prevent governments from adopting policies that might increase fuel diversity, and thus consumer choice, and at the same time reduce our dependence on petroleum. In California the oil industry argues that mandates don't work. Yet they expect Californian's to accept that operating under current market conditions is anything other than an oil industry mandate.

Since the year 2000, the oil and gas industry has spent nearly \$100 million on contributions to federal election campaigns with an average of 80% of the contributions going to members of the Republican party.⁵⁷ If funds formerly accounted for before the Federal Elections Reform Act (Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act) of 2002 were included this total would likely be found to exceed \$100 million.⁵⁸ Oil companies contributed at least \$60 million dollars directly to state election campaigns across the country between 1999 and 2004. Only 18% of the state election campaigns that they helped to fund were unsuccessful. California political contributions totaled nearly \$7.4 million during these years.⁵⁹ During the last two elections alone, the oil and gas industry contributed \$7.3 million towards election campaigns.⁶⁰§

One fruit of the oil companies' largesse at the federal level was the inclusion of provisions in the 2005 Federal Energy Policy Act (2005 EPACT) that provided the oil and gas industry with nearly \$6 billion in subsidies.⁶¹ This, while the industry was collecting the largest

[§] Total contributions to date for 2006 = \$2,544,357

Total contributions for 2004 = \$4,777,686

profits recorded in corporate history. A curious aspect of the 2005 EPACT is that it contains a provision wherein oil companies do not need to compensate taxpayers with cash royalties, rather they can provide some amount of the extracted oil as an in-kind contribution to the federal government. This program already existed before 2005, but has been extended as a result of the EPACT. More than one third of the oil and gas produced in the United States comes from federal lands. There is a concern that, if this program were to expand that it could significantly and negatively impact the federal treasury. The Government Accountability Office estimates that depending on the outcome of a pending lawsuit against the federal government the program could end up costing taxpayers as much as \$80 billion in lost royalties.⁶²

THE IMPACTS CAUSED BY THE USE OF OIL

While California's world-leading environmental regulations have done much to try to mitigate the impacts of its resource use, the use of fuels derived from petroleum still come with large hidden monetary costs, ranging from the impacts on wild public lands, to food prices resulting from damage to the productivity of California's agriculture and our coastal ecosystems including our commercial fisheries. The hidden costs also include:

- lost worker productivity resulting from sick days brought on by poor air quality, and
- the increased health insurance premiums under our private health insurance plans and the federal and state taxes we pay to support the MediCare and MediCal programs in order to cover the costs of treatment for those suffering from asthma and other respiratory diseases as well as
- the cancer's attributable to the use and combustion of these fuels (especially the particulates from the burning of diesel fuel).

Not all of these costs are or can be easily put into dollar terms. However, as this survey shows, there are still other real and serious costs attributable to the use of gasoline and other petroleum based fuels.

CALIFORNIA'S AIR QUALITY

California has the Nation's most polluted air. According to the state Air Resources Board nearly 90% of Californians breathe unhealthy air during some part of the year. The key challenge that faces Californian's is in how to reduce the emissions of pollutants that give rise to particulate matter, smog and ozone. Smog results when chemical pollutants in the air react with each other. Both the chemical pollutants and their reaction products can be harmful to human health. The chemical pollutants most responsible for smog and ozone formation are oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and oxides of sulfur (SOx) — produced by motor vehicle engines and other combustion sources — and volatile organic compounds (VOCs). As outlined above: the production, transportation and use of petroleum and petroleum products are a primary source of these air pollutants. Increased temperatures under climate change — largely a product of the use of transportation fuels as previously noted — will increase the rate of release of VOCs. These increased temperatures will also accelerate the rate of the reactions that produce smog and

ozone. Thus warming due to climate change would not only increase the supply of the chemical pollutants, but also the rate at which they react. SOx compounds contribute to the formation of secondary particulate compounds when they react with other pollutants in the air, and can irritate the lining of a person's airways if breathed-in directly. The SOx compounds can react with the moisture in the mucous lining of the airways to form a very powerful acid (sulfuric acid). This same reaction can occur in the air, thereby contributing to acid rain. Direct contact with SOx compounds and they're reaction products can cause serious health problems for those suffering from asthma, or in those individuals with compromised heart and lung function. NOx compounds pose similar challenges to human and environmental health as the SOx compounds. They can similarly form a powerful acid — nitric acid — if breathed directly into the lungs. The particulate compounds formed when NOx reacts with other compounds in the air can likewise pose a challenge to the health of individuals. Ozone is one of the most dangerous compounds produced during the formation of smog. It is a free-radical compound; one of the most highly reactive chemical compounds recognized by the science of chemistry. High concentrations of ozone can be dangerous at ground-level. There is a strong association between: daily mortality, particulate matter concentration, and ozone levels. Warming due to climate change will worsen this problem.

The Los Angeles area has been affected by high ground-level ozone levels for more than half a century. Its air still ranks as some of the worst in the nation. About 70% of Los Angeles's smog comes from mobile sources such as the region's 11 million cars and trucks, agricultural and construction equipment, and gasoline-powered lawn and garden equipment. California's San Joaquin Valley has also joined the notorious and exclusive club of regions with the Nation's worst air (Houston is the remaining member), being in extreme non-attainment for both ozone and fine particulate matter. Most California counties are in various levels of non-attainment for either ozone or particulate matter.⁶³ Consequently, California has the tightest restrictions on vehicle emissions in the nation.

Nearly five million California residents have asthma, and nearly 1.5 million of them are children. It is the leading cause of school absenteeism. Ozone is of special concern for asthmatics. High ozone levels increases the number of asthma attacks, the need for medication and other medical treatment, and results in more hospital admissions and emergency room visits for asthmatics. There are now 160,000 California children hospitalized due to asthma every year.⁶⁴ There are also challenges for adults with asthma. The California Health Interview Survey has found that adults exposed to medium and high levels of traffic have an of 40 percent and 80 percent increased likelihood of daily or weekly asthma symptoms respectively, compared to exposure during low level traffic conditions.⁶⁵ In 2002 almost three quarters of a million Californians\delta experienced asthma symptoms every day or week, indicating a chronic exposure to environmental triggers.⁶⁶ Exposure to traffic has also been associated with an increased risk of heart attacks in those with heart disease.⁶⁷

Plants are also susceptible to the damaging effects of ozone. Just as it can damage lung tissue, it can damage the delicate tissues within the interiors of leaves, and can lead to reduced agricultural yields (especially in foliage crops and cotton), and reduce the health of landscape and wild vegetation.⁶⁸ The damaging effects of ozone on plants were in fact first discovered in Los Angeles in the mid-1940s after the link was made between high ozone levels and repeated

 $[\]delta$ The number is now likely much higher. In 2002 — as part of this same study — 667,000 children were noted as having asthma. The number of children acknowledged as having asthma has since more than doubled.

injury to vegetable crops.⁶⁹

Fine particulate matter (1/100th the width of a human hair) is of particular concern, not only because it can penetrate deep into the lungs, but also because there are few places where it can be avoided in densely populated urban environments. The particles are so fine that they can enter any indoor living space. Patient admission rates to hospitals among elderly and children for respiratory and cardiac problems increase when concentrations of particulate matter rise. Even at levels below federal air quality standards, particulate matter has been shown to trigger heart attacks in people who are obese, inactive, or have a history of heart problems. Infants living in cities with high levels of fine particles have a 26% greater chance of sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS), and infants exposed to high levels of air pollution are 40% more likely to die of respiratory causes.⁷⁰

According to the American Lung Association and based on California Air Resources Board data, combined exposure to particulate matter and ozone in California is estimated to lead to 7100 premature deaths per year; a rate nearly twice that of traffic accidents (3,200 deaths per year) and comparable to that caused by second-hand smoke (4,200 – 7,400 deaths per year). Continuous exposure to high levels of particulate matter shortens life-span by an estimated 14 years.⁷¹ Chronic exposure to elevated levels of ozone has been linked to the onset of asthma in children.⁷² Those continuously exposed to high levels of particulate matter run the same risk of developing lung cancer as non-smokers exposed to second-hand cigarette smoke.⁷³ Recent epidemiological work indicates that the magnitude of past mortality estimates related to particulate matter exposure may be significantly underestimated; by as much as 2 to 3 times.⁷⁴ Thus these estimates of total mortality are likely to be revised substantially higher.

The California Air Resources Board provided revised estimates for the annual health impact from exposure solely to ozone and at levels currently experienced in California.⁷⁵ These comparisons were against attainment levels for the proposed State 8-hour and 1-hour ozone standards throughout California. The estimates indicate that — for ozone exposure alone — there will be:

- 4,200 hospitalizations due to respiratory diseases for all ages.
- 660 emergency room visits for asthma for children under 18 years of age.
- 4.7 million school absences for children 5 to 17 years of age.
- 3.1 million minor restricted activity days for adults above 18 years of age.

Research conducted as part of the "Children's Health Study"⁷⁶ has now shown that California's poor air quality in fact interferes with lung development in children.⁷⁷ Other significant findings resulting from scientific and medical research conducted as part of this 10-year study include:⁷⁸

- "Significant lung function deficits are most closely associated with exposure to nitrogen dioxide, atmospheric acidity, PM 2.5 and PM10. This decreased lung development may have permanent adverse effects in adulthood;
- Children living in high ozone communities, who are especially active, are up to three times more likely to develop asthma;
- Children living near roadways with high traffic experienced an increased risk for having been diagnosed with asthma;

- Short-term exposures to elevated ozone levels are associated with a significant increase (up to 1.3 million per year) in school absences from both upper respiratory illness with symptoms such as runny nose and lower respiratory illnesses such as asthma attacks;
- Children who move to cleaner communities with lower levels of PM have improvements in lung function growth rates. This means that even small reductions in air pollution can have immediate benefits to the long-term respiratory health of children living in polluted communities;
- Bronchitic symptoms are associated with exposure to nitrogen dioxide and the organic carbon fraction of PM2.5 in asthmatic children;
- The strength of the air pollution effects are generally greater in children who spend more time outdoors; and,
- Results from the study suggest that boys in general are more susceptible to adverse respiratory symptoms and asthma outcomes than girls. Girls appear to have greater susceptibility for adverse effects on lung function development. There is limited evidence supporting sex differences in responses to ambient air pollutants; however, children of both sexes appear to have adverse respiratory effects of exposure to current levels of air pollution"

All of these health impacts come with a cost, and there has been much research attempting to estimate exactly how much California's poor air quality is costing Californian's. These costs are not obvious and are external to the normal valuation system we currently employ in our economy. However, there is a rapidly developing area of academic research that specializes in studying these "hidden" or "external" costs and the California Air Resources Board works with some of the most highly respected researchers in the world to determine these costs.

THE HIDDEN COST OF CALIFORNIA'S AIR QUALITY

The costs of poor air quality can be attributed to:

- reduced productivity
 - \circ due to lost work days
 - lost school days and
 - reduced activity amongst the millions of Californians most sensitive to the effects of poor air
- increased medical costs due to hospital visits and admissions
- the increased use of prescription medications
- other medical treatment needed to treat both acute and chronic health problems linked to the effects of poor air quality.
- Damage to sensitive agricultural crops and sensitive forest species
- Damage to infrastructure caused by the highly reactive compounds released into the air by the combustion of fuels

The California Air Resources Board estimates that hospitalizing and treating patients for illnesses related to air pollution exposure in the state costs the state of California roughly \$2.3

billion per year. The Board also estimates that the state spends \$70 billion a year in order to prevent premature deaths linked to air pollution exposure in excess of the State's PM and ozone standards.⁷⁹ Estimates by the American Lung Association of California are in relative agreement with these numbers.

A separate study conducted by the Institute for Economic and Environmental Studies found that poor air quality — due to the levels of ozone and particulate matter — in the San Joaquin Valley costs the valley's residents \$3 billion per year. The cost of air pollution represents:

- 460 premature deaths among those age 30 and older
- 23,300 asthma attacks
- 188,000 days of school absences
- 3,230 cases of acute bronchitis in children
- 3,000 lost work days
- 325 new cases of chronic bronchitis
- 188,400 days of reduced activity in adults
- 260 hospital admissions
- More than 17,000 days of respiratory symptoms in children

The South Coast Air Quality Management District conducted a socioeconomic analysis as part of its Air Quality Management Plan. The analysis estimates the overall economic benefit to the South Coast Air Basin to exceed \$6.6 billion as a result of the plan's implementation.⁸⁰ The San Joaquin Valley Unified Air Pollution Control District has estimated that it will cost the valley \$7.5 billion over the next 6 years in order to meet federal ozone standards.⁸¹

Given the large role that the petroleum industry and transportation play in contributing to the state's air pollution, these economic sectors are responsible for a significant share of these costs. However, these are not the only costs Californian's assume in continuing to participate in a transportation system rooted in petroleum-derived fuels.

THE HIDDEN COSTS OF TRANSPORTATION

Because of the incredible complexity of everything that goes into making our transportation system work, there are few researchers who have directly taken on the task of trying to estimate the hidden or externalized cost of the transportation system itself.⁸² The Texas A&M University's Texas Transportation Institute issues a highly regarded annual report on its analysis of urban mobility throughout the country.⁸³ In its most recent analysis it estimated that in 2003, traffic congestion alone cost Americans nearly \$64 billion a year. Estimates were also made for several of California's key cities.

While this analysis is limited to some of California's major metropolitan centers — accounting for nearly 74% of the states population in 2003 — it does allow for some broad-based

City Region	Congestion Cost	Cost per Peak Traveler	Cost per Person	Population
Los Angeles	\$10,686 million	\$1,598	\$855	12,500,000
San Francisco –				
Oakland	\$2,605 million	\$1,224	\$631	4,125,000
San Diego	\$1,411 million	\$900	\$492	2,870,000
Riverside –				
San Bernardino	\$863 million	\$947	\$517	1,670,000
San Jose	\$823 million	\$900	\$492	1,675,000
Sacramento	\$669 million	\$685	\$374	1,655,000
Oxnard – Ventura	\$176 million	\$571	\$307	575,000
Fresno	\$72 million	\$224	\$120	595,000
Bakersfield	\$30 million	\$128	\$69	440,000
TOTAL	\$17,335 million			26,105,000
AVERAGE COST	\$17,555 minion	\$797	\$429	20,100,000

conclusions. As each of the state's urban areas expands congestion and the external costs that go with it increase. The total cost of congestion alone in California was estimated total in excess of \$17.3 billion in 2003.

As everyone who owns a car and drives in a city knows, the greater the congestion, the lower the mileage driven per gallon of fuel. Another consequence of this innocuous fact is that there is a greater build up of air pollutants under these conditions, including VOCs that contribute to both ozone, smog and particulate matter pollution. The State's growing urban areas face the challenge of having a growing difficulty in reducing air pollution their areas in the face of these trends.

The most recent work on hidden transportation costs in California was conducted by the Institute of Transportation Studies at UC-Davis for the Sacramento Area Council of Government's Blueprint Plan looking out to the year 2025.⁸⁴ Sacramento is the only California city for which there has been a relatively current analysis performed in this manner to date. This work indicated that for residents of six counties in the Sacramento area in the year 2025 the annual total social cost of transportation† would be between \$17 and \$32 billion (2002 dollars). External costs are estimated to range between \$2.5 and \$9.5 billion a year (2002 dollars). This translates to the equivalent cost of \$12-\$23 per gallon for total social cost, and \$2-\$7 per gallon for the external cost based on projected fuel consumption in the SACOG area in 2025.

The International Center for Technology Assessment (ICTA) conducted an analysis that estimated the externalized costs associated with the use of gasoline in 1998. The report considered inputs deemed to account for the externalities of gasoline usage. Total external costs were estimated to fall between \$558.7 billion and \$1.69 trillion per year. Assuming a \$1.00 per gallon price for 1998, would mean that an additional \$4.60 to \$14.14 would need to be added to the retail price of a gallon of gasoline.⁸⁵ The academic fields that were the basis for providing cost numbers for this analysis have progressed in the last eight years and our understanding of the health impacts of air pollution has as well. A thorough update of this comprehensive analysis would likely lead to a substantial upward revision of the total cost estimates in each of the five categories independent of adjustments in dollar valuation.

While there is a range of items that can be included as externalities — depending on the researchers perspective — including tax subsidies, coast guard services to maintain seaways for marine tanker vessel traffic, and the costs of the role of the US military in protecting international petroleum infrastructure and access to foreign supplies to oil, the research on the

[†] This analysis made independent estimates of the costs due to congestion. They fall within the range of the estimates made by the Texas Transportation Institute.

total and external costs of transportation has merely scratched the surface on this issue. Clearly when viewed in conjunction with the costs to California of air pollution — as briefly outlined above — there are tens of billions in unaccounted costs associated with the use of petroleum fuels and our transportation system as it is now designed. As recent developments indicate, things are not going well in Detroit these days, and if American auto-manufacturers fail to begin to chart an independent path from the oil industry they are in danger of falling further "In The Tank".⁸⁶

The Petroleum Supply Chain

The process of making and using gasoline and other petroleum fuels is very complex. The process of discovering crude oil and getting it from the oil well to market can be described in four broad categories:

- 1: Exploration, development and production: Onshore and offshore
- 2: Shipping and Storage of Crude Oil and Refined Oil Products
- 3: Refining Crude Oil
- 4: Final Use Combustion in vehicles

Each step in the process of exploiting oil, poses serious environmental and health hazards. At each stage, the oil industry has been required to put safety measures and standards in place to mitigate its impact on both the environment and public health. Despite this, the industry is still one of most environmental damaging in the world.

1: Exploration, development, and production

The environmental impacts that result from taking an oil development project from its initial exploratory phase to commercial extraction can exceed those of a major oil spill.⁸⁷ Significant impacts include:

- Deforestation, resulting from the clearing of land (especially in remote locations) for the construction of roads and building of drilling pads for the placement of drilling platforms
- Soil compaction
- Soil erosion due to increased surface runoff
- Disturbance of benthic ecosystems
- Chemical contamination of land, water, and marine sediments. Drilling during the exploratory and commercial phases requires the use of large amounts of water, which becomes contaminated with petroleum waste, drilling muds/fluids, and by-products of drilling such as well water, drill cuttings, and other material from the boreholes. This water may then be released (either by accident or design) into the environment.
- Short and long-term harm to wildlife (particularly migratory birds, marine mammals, and other coastal and bottom dwelling organisms).

Once an oil company gains a lease to access lands or sea bottom that may potentially

contain oil it must conduct exploratory surveys to locate potential deposits beneath the earth's surface. These surveys can employ remote sensing techniques or seismic testing, or both in combination to locate potential deposits. The use of seismic techniques during the exploratory phase of development is just the beginning of what is a highly disruptive and invasive process. Seismic survey techniques employ explosives and/or explosive-like devices to map the strata beneath the earth's surface and ocean bottom.⁸⁸ These survey techniques pose a hazard to wildlife on land and especially for marine mammals and other marine life.⁸⁹

On land this requires that the first roads be built into remote areas. Once potential deposits are identified, drilling rigs (sometimes weighing as much as several thousand tons) are brought in and placed over the location of the deposit (requiring more extensive road construction on land) in order to conduct test drilling. This involves large work crews with supporting vehicle and/or marine vessel traffic and the use of additional supporting infrastructure. Not all test wells are successful and not all potential deposits prove to hold petroleum or enough petroleum to make the project commercially viable. If, however, the test wells indicate that there is a significant deposit of petroleum, the project proceeds to commercialization. This usually involves the creation of more wells in order to maximize production, and the construction of permanent supporting infrastructure including pipelines to deliver the crude oil to market.⁹⁰ Moreover, some of the compounds used in the drilling muds (aka drilling fluids)⁹¹ that help lubricate and cool the drill bits and drill lines, stabilize the walls of the bore hole, and liquefy earthen cuttings, can have impacts on both worker health⁹² and the environment. Studies conducted for the Minerals Management Service in the Gulf of Mexico indicate that sediments associated with the release of these fluids around drilling rigs have higher levels of toxic compounds in the sediments including heavy metals, and elevated organic carbon levels resulting in anoxic zones, and reduced species richness.⁹³ On land these fluids (which build up as drilling waste) are collected and stored in waste and evaporation pits where they can pose a hazard to groundwater and to migratory birds.⁹⁴ Activity associated with the routine operation of an oil field can also have significant consequences for wildlife and marine life, and indigenous communities may also suffer displacement and disruption of their traditional lifestyles. Activities associated with exploration and development can also be an important source of air pollutants generating pollution at levels equivalent to major metropolitan areas in the US.⁹⁵

The US oil and gas industry generates solid and liquid waste (primarily during drilling and extraction) at a rate that rivals the total combined municipal, agricultural, mining, and industrial wastes in the rest of the country.⁹⁶ According to the most recent statistics available from the US-EPA, in 1995 the exploration and extraction of oil and gas in the US led to the production of 146 million barrels of drilling waste and 22 million barrels of associated wastes. The bulk of the associated waste is what the industry calls "produced water". Produced water is water that is found associated with a bore hole during test drilling or comes from the oil extracted from a producing well and often contains many of the hazardous and toxic materials also found in the raw crude being extracted. These include — but are not limited to — benzene, toluene, cyclohexane, xylene, other aromatics, alkanes, cycloalkanes, and polyaromatic hydorcarbons. Produced water is often a brine (water considerably saltier than seawater) associated with the deep underground oil deposits. This brine is what remains of the buried prehistoric inland sea that also gave rise to the oil deposits. Produced water may also contain heavy metals such as arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium, and mercury as well as radioactive

isotopes (referred to as NORM "naturally occurring radioactive materials"). High-pressure reinjection of produced water into oil wells is sometimes used to increase a well's oil production. Produced water that is not reinjected must undergo significant treatment to purify it if it is to be released without causing environmental harm by further leading to soil degradation and/or polluting aquifers, surface and groundwaters. Fifty-eight per cent of the associated wastes were reinjected as produced water during 1995.⁹⁷ A key concern also comes with releases from abandoned oil wells that were not properly shutdown.⁹⁸

California oil production is highly dependent on the use of "injection wells" using produced water to enhance the recovery rates of oil from its tens of thousands of wells. Currently over 50% of the producing wells in California are injection wells and account for 60% of California's oil production. Besides the recovered produced water the injection fluid under this program is allowed to contain "diatomaceous earth-filter backwash, thermally enhanced oil recovery cogeneration plant fluid, water-softener regeneration brine, air scrubber waste, drilling mud filtrate, naturally occurring radioactive materials, and tank bottoms."⁹⁹ The state's injection well program is administered under the US-EPA's Underground Injection Control Program.¹⁰⁰ California crude production comes with the added danger of often being a sour (acidic) crude rich in the gas hydrogen sulfide (H2S) which is toxic in high concentrations and a potential danger to anyone either working or living near a producing well.¹⁰¹

Regardless of whether oil exploration occurs on the ocean or land there is a risk of a blowout or spill of crude oil into the environment and the chronic loss of produced water.¹⁰² While all crude oils have their own unique set of characteristics, they all contain compounds that are toxic to human health and the environment, and some of the compounds are powerful carcinogens.¹⁰³ According to the National Academy of Sciences there is a significant potential for major spills to occur from oil producing facilities, especially in older production fields with aging infrastructures.¹⁰⁴ This threat is expected to grow as the industry increases the number of new producing wells at oil fields to meet the world's growing thirst for oil. The Government Accountability Office — an independent nonpartisan agency that oversees and consults for the US Congress; also known as the "congressional watchdog") — has warned that on federal public lands administered by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM), the

"BLM's ability to meet its environmental mitigation responsibilities for oil and gas development has been lessened by a dramatic increase in oil and gas operations on federal lands over the past 6 years. Nationwide, the total number of drilling permits approved by BLM more than tripled, from 1,803 in fiscal year 1999 to 6,399 in fiscal year 2004. BLM officials in five out of eight field offices that GAO visited explained that as a result of the increases in drilling permit workloads, staff had to devote increased time to processing drilling permits, leaving less time for mitigation activities, such as environmental inspections and idle-well reviews."¹⁰⁵

The industry is also pushing drilling and production technology to work in environments formerly out of reach (such as at the edge or off the edge of the continental shelf). Because industry has little knowledge or limited previous experience operating at these new technological and environmental limits,¹⁰⁶ the risk of accidents and spills happening at this new frontier should

[♥] Also see sections 4: Combustion in vehicles, below on compounds that are in, and derived from petroleum.

also be considered significant. \oplus^{107} A recent study estimated that there is a more than 40% chance of oil spill of 1000 barrels or more happening in California coastal waters from offshore drilling operations in the next 25 years.¹⁰⁸

On average, an estimated 21,000 barrels (880,000 gallons or 3,000 metric tons) of petroleum is spilled into the waters of North America due to oil and gas exploration each year. Worldwide more than 260,000 barrels (11,000,000 gallons or 38,000 metric tons) of oil are routinely spilled into the seas from this source each year. The bulk of the spills in US waters occur near shore where they can threaten or damage sensitive coastal environments in the main petroleum producing areas of the Gulf of Mexico, off of the coast of southern California, and off northern Alaska.

2: Shipping and Storing Oil and Refined Oil Products

Once an oil field has begun producing crude, the oil needs to be transported to the refinery for processing and the refined products must then be distributed to market. Pipelines are typically used to transport oil on land, and from large fields on the sea floor to storage terminals on shore. The oil can next be moved either to the refinery or to a marine terminal at a seaport where the oil can be loaded on to a tanker vessel for shipment to a distant refinery.¹⁰⁹ California's imported petroleum is transported in tanker vessels from countries around the world and delivered to refineries in the San Francisco Bay and Los Angeles area.¹¹⁰ Pipelines and tanker vessels are also used to transport large volumes of refined products such as gasoline and diesel from the refineries to storage facilities near markets. With each additional step in the handling and transportation of crude oil and refined products the likelihood for the accidental and possibly catastrophic release of oil increases.

In 2004, between 2.1 and 2.3 billion metric tons of oil were transported by sea; an amount equivalent to nearly 35% of the total tonnage of world cargo shipped that year.¹¹¹ Tanker vessels account for one quarter of the total number of cargo vessels in the world.¹¹² The shipping of crude through international waters contributes significantly to the total emissions from international shipping,¹¹³ the levels of which rival the total NOx and PM emissions from all of the world's road traffic combined. International shipping has become a significant source of aerosols and a dominant source of sulfur dioxide emissions on the planet.¹¹⁴ This has very much to do with the use of bunker fuel oil — a fuel oil high in sulfur and other undesirable compounds — to power marine cargo and tanker vessels.¹¹⁵ Oil tankers can also be significant sources of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) important in the formation of ozone and smog.¹¹⁶ The shipment of crude oil and refined products also further contributes to the significant levels of air pollution associated with the cargo and tanker vessel traffic in the urban areas surrounding ports. Shipping at the port of Los Angeles-Long Beach is responsible for ten percent of the nitrous oxide and twenty-five percent of the diesel particulate matter emissions in the region, while the port's immediate residents disproportionately suffer the direct negative effects of these as concentrated pollutants.¹¹⁷

The National Academy of Sciences estimates that on average more than 64,000 barrels

[⊕] The United Nations Environment Program's Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection noted that, "Recent technological developments... ...make it possible to explore for oil and gas - and to exploit them - from ever deeper waters; the current limit is about 2000 metres. The potential contamination - for example, from the release of oil or gas could damage large areas of the oceans and their ecosystems. And a blowout in deep water could be difficult to control quickly, and have serious ecological effects."

(2,700,000 gallons or 9,100 metric tons) of crude oil and refined products are spilled into North American waters annually, while annual spills worldwide total in excess of 1 million barrels (44,000,000 gallons or 150,000 metric tons).¹¹⁸ The National Academy noted that,

"Although the number of spill incidents and the amounts of oil spilled have shown a meaningful decreasing trend in recent years, significant and large spills worldwide continue to characterize the industry. In addition, history has shown that one very large accident can change the statistics in a major way. It should be noted that most of the large catastrophic tanker accidents are single rare events, and the amount of oil spilled during these events tends to overshadow all other spills."¹¹⁹

The National Academy also cautions that because the demand for oil in the coming decades will continue to grow the resulting increase in tanker traffic means that there is a significant potential for a large spill.

There are 200,000 miles of oil pipeline in the United States,¹²⁰ and these carry about two thirds of the nation's crude oil and refined oil products.¹²¹ California has roughly 2,800 miles of pipelines that transport refined petroleum products to market.¹²² Monitoring and preventing pipeline corrosion is a constant battle for the pipeline owners.¹²³ Pipeline accidents can pollute the water, ground, and air, lead to property damage, injury or death and can be a major cause of fires. Pipelines are monitored by the US Department of Transportation's, Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS). In California, the State Fire Marshall serves to monitor some of the pipeline's in the state for the OPS. The OPS's small staff of slightly more than 150 — 100 of whom are inspectors — must also monitor some 2 million miles of natural gas pipelines.¹²⁴ In 2004 the Government Accountability Office conducted a study of the OPS. While acknowledging that,

"Although in recent years OPS has made a number of changes in its enforcement strategy that have the potential to improve pipeline safety, the effectiveness of this strategy cannot currently be determined because the agency has not incorporated three key elements of effective program management—clear program goals, a well-defined strategy for achieving those goals, and performance measures linked to the program goals. Without these three key elements, OPS cannot determine whether recent and planned changes in its enforcement strategy are having or will have the desired effects on pipeline safety. "

the GAO went on to analyze the OPS's safety statistics and determined that between 1994 through 2003, accidents on interstate pipelines decreased by nearly 49 percent: from 245 in 1994 to 126 in 2003. The National Academy of Sciences has noted that the documentation for spills on land is poor and leads to large uncertainty in the estimates.¹²⁵ The GAO did note that the industry's safety record had not improved for "serious accidents", those "with the greatest consequence—those resulting in a fatality, an injury, or in property damage of \$50,000 or more". The number of serious accidents stayed about the same over the 10-year period.¹²⁶ In it's 2000 analysis of pipeline safety the GAO determined that during the period from 1989 through 1998 pipeline accidents killed 226 people and incurred approximately \$700 million in property damage annually. In its 2000 report the GAO also determined that, "pipelines that transport hazardous liquid account for nearly eight times as many major accidents per mile of pipeline as pipelines that transport natural gas to homes and businesses."¹²⁷

The National Academy of Sciences is especially disconcerted by the potential for large spills to occur from aging pipelines and other coastal facilities, as these facilities often lie near sensitive coastal areas.¹²⁸ Indeed the National Energy Policy Development Group — convened by Vice President Dick Cheney for the Whitehouse — noted in its 2001 report that the number of inland oil spills were increasing and referred to federal government data that indicated the average number of inland oil spill notifications grew from 9,000 notifications a year in the early 1990s to between 10,000 - 12,000 a year in the late 1990s. Many of these yearly inland oil spills were over 100,000 gallons each. The National Energy Policy Development Group attributed this increase to the aging of pipelines, storage tanks, and other infrastructure components.¹²⁹ paralleling the concerns of the National Academy. A recent profile of the nation's pipelines found that — according to an OPS database — during the 1990s an average of 6.7 million gallons of oil leaked from pipelines each year.¹³⁰ According to the profile there is an industry consensus that the OPS database significantly under-reports spills, possibly by as much as half. If that were the case, at a spill rate approaching 13 million gallons per year, spills from pipelines on land would exceed the equivalent of one Exxon Valdez per year. OPS statistics report that during 2005 and for the first 9 months of 2006, 171 accidents occurred totaling nearly 116 million dollars in damage and releasing nearly 200,000 barrels (more than 8 million gallons) of petroleum and refined products into the environment.¹³¹ Annual average cleanup costs for pipelines in California are estimated at about \$9 million.¹³²

California has 40 operational marine terminals — most over 50 years old — and 2 associated major storage facilities for refined products at locations in the San Francisco Bay area and in Southern California. Together they have 38 storage tanks that can hold a combined 2 million barrels of oil.¹³³ The Energy Commission estimates that the state has roughly 90 terminals that receive and store refined petroleum products for later transfer to tanker trucks via loading racks for delivery to retail stations. Of no less concern is the potential for accidents resulting from leaks or collapse of storage tanks holding crude oil and refined petroleum products. The National Academy of Sciences warns that, "Areas near major petroleum handling facilities face the greatest threat" of spills.¹³⁴ Storage of crude oil and refined products can be a significant source of VOC emissions that contribute to the formation of ozone.¹³⁵ This is because the storage tanks typically have floating roofs that are not sealed, thereby allowing emissions to escape from the tops of the tanks. With the huge amount of gasoline and diesel fuel Californian's consume on a daily basis (44 million gallons of gasoline and 10 million gallons of diesel) the transport of fuels from the storage terminals by tanker truck to the retail location is a significant source of hazardous air emissions. A typical tanker truck carries 4000-6000 gallons requiring 9000-13,500 round trips daily (3.3 million to 5 million trips annually) between the delivery point and the storage terminals. The fact that most if not all of these tanker trucks are equipped with diesel engines would indicate that the transport of fuels to their final retail location results in the production of significant amounts of diesel exhaust, a major source of toxic particulates.¹³⁶

3: The Refinery

It should be no surprise given that crude oil is a complex mix of often hazardous and toxic compounds that oil refineries are a major source of pollution. This pollution threatens the air, ground and water.¹³⁷ Refineries are regulated under a number of laws:

- CERCLA the superfund law (Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act)
- the Clean Air Act
- the Clean Water Act
- the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act (EPCRA)
- Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA)
- 1990 Oil Pollution Act passed in response to the Exxon Valdez spill of 1989
- Safe Drinking Water Act
- TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act)

to name just a few.¹³⁸

From the first days of refining in the late 1800s when kerosene was distilled from the first processed crude oils, petroleum refineries have evolved to become large complexes designed to systematically separate the compounds that makeup crude oil into a diverse array of products. This is done using a sequence of thermal and chemical techniques to separate out and modify those compounds according to their weight. Using these approaches a modern refinery produces everything from gasoline and jet fuel, to kerosene and diesel, to waxes and asphalt.¹³⁹ Oil refineries are also a major producer of feedstocks for the chemicals industry.

Oil refineries are sources of toxic air and water emissions, hazardous wastes, thermal and noise pollution. Under EPCRA refiners are required to report to the Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) program any releases of toxic chemicals and transfer of wastes to locations off the refinery site.¹⁴⁰ According to the EPA's most recent analysis of TRI data the petroleum refining industry releases 75% of its toxic emissions to the air, 24% to the water (including 20% to underground injection and 4% to surface waters), and 1% to the land. The main hazardous air pollutants released by the industry are the BTEX compounds (benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, and mixed xylenes).¹⁴¹ Refineries must report on their annual emissions for about 600 chemicals. There can be considerable shortfalls in this reporting, however. According to an analysis conducted by the Environmental Defense Fund, "Of the hundreds of toxic chemicals in crude oil and refinery products, only a few are typically reported to TRI. Many of those not included have similar structural, physical, and toxicological properties to those that are reported." As an example of how serious under-reporting can be, the Environmental Defense Fund noted that on the study of an Amoco refinery in Yorktown, Virginia that the refinery's TRI report forms only covered 9% of the total hydrocarbons released.142

Nearby communities suffer the immediate and direct effects of pollutant releases from refineries. They have a special concern about unreported releases and fugitive emissions that result from the routine day to day operations of their local refinery. For the one air district for which data were available – the South Coast Air Quality Management District – the California Energy Commission reports that there were 996 public complaints of odors, smoke, and oil fallout, alleging refinery sources in calendar years 2003 and 2004; an average of more than one complaint about a release per day for two consecutive years.¹⁴³

Californian refineries process approximately 11-12% of the nation's petroleum, on the basis of its crude intake capacity. Refineries are the largest and most intensive consumers of energy in California and throughout the US,¹⁴⁴ and the state's refineries are also the largest

source of SOx (oxides of sulfur) compounds in the state.¹⁴⁵ Refineries can also be major sources of NOx (oxides of nitrogen), especially during flaring and flaring accidents.¹⁴⁶ Both of these classes of compounds can irritate the lungs and can contribute to ozone formation, another powerful irritant to the lungs and eyes. SOx and NOx can react to form particulates that are also powerful lung irritants.¹⁴⁷ Not surprisingly refineries also emit significant amounts of VOCs.¹⁴⁸ All of these compounds are strictly regulated under both Federal and California law as criteria pollutants.Π

Like most industrial processes, oil refining utilizes huge amounts of water, for cooling, and production. Much of the resulting wastewater is contaminated with chemical compounds used in the refining process and found in the original crude oil. These compounds are extremely hazardous and pose a threat to community health. Even after treatment many of these contaminants still remain to impact water and — as some of the compounds are volatile they can also escape to — pollute the overlying air.¹⁴⁹ California's refineries are the largest generators of industrial hazardous waste (including wastewater) in the state, with the 17 largest facilities producing nearly 13 million tons of hazardous waste in 2002. ∇ This was a nearly 18 percent reduction in hazardous waste production from levels reported in 1998. According to the Department of Toxic Substances Control, the bulk of the industry's total reductions were due to process changes at just one facility. However, some of the refineries did not completely report their wastewater discharges. Sixteen refineries did not report producing any Class A waste.¹⁵⁰ At least half of the state's refineries are recognized as having extensive soil and groundwater pollution. The Energy Commission estimates that the average refinery cleanup costs are around \$600 million annually.¹⁵¹

There is evidence that the incidence of childhood leukemia and other cancers are higher for children living near oil refineries and oil infrastructure facilities.¹⁵² Minority and low-income communities tend to be located near refineries, and are impacted disproportionately by the pollutant releases from refineries.¹⁵³

California has not seen a new refinery built since 1969 and nationally a new refinery has not been built since 1976. During the past 20 years the number of state refinery facilities has fallen from 35 to 21 (approximately 40 percent – matching the national trend) while at the same time total crude oil processing capacity dropped by only 20 percent from its peak in 1987. This is due to the average production capacity of refineries increasing to nearly 92%.¹⁵⁴

The California Energy Commission has estimated that as the state's demand for petroleum based fuels continues to increase, by 2015 refiners will require between 4.2 and 7.6 million barrels of additional storage tank capacity. By 2025 this will need to increase to between 6 and 11.7 million gallons. Given the challenges involved in permitting new refinery facilities in the state, the Energy Commission does not anticipate that any new oil refineries will be built through to 2025.¹⁵⁵ Even so there are still considerable challenges in permitting the expansion of new supporting infrastructure to increase current refinery capacity. The assumption is that refiners will be able to increase their processing capacity even further in order to better meet demand. Any shortfalls would require the increased importation of finished refined product in

 $[\]prod$ For a more detailed discussion of the role of these compounds in air quality see the section below on **California's Air Quality** ∇ 12,696,443 tons/year of SB-14 Class A (aqueous) waste,

^{83,923} tons/year of SB-14 Class B (nonaquesous) waste.

as per SB 14 (Roberti, 1989) - The Hazardous Waste Source Reduction and Management Review Act of 1989 These waste categories cover such materials as oil/water separation sludge, aqueous solutions containing organic residues, and wastes containing spent catalysts.

order to meet this anticipated demand.

4: The Use of Petroleum Derived Fuels in Transportation

All through the supply chain: from the oil well to the fuel tank, people (oil industry workers, environmental cleanup crews, government inspectors, transportation workers, communities near oil industry infrastructure, etc.) and the environment are exposed to the compounds found in crude oil or its refined products. While getting what they often presume to be "the clean final product" the average consumer probably does not realize precisely how toxic and hazardous the cocktail of compounds is, that they routinely expose themselves to when using their preferred fuel. The danger does not end there however. While the California Air Resources Board has some of the strictest standards in the world for preventing the escape of the fuel compounds to the air, some of the many compounds eventually find their way out of the fuel system of the car and into the air as volatile organic compounds (VOCs). At nearly 1,400 tons per day, the distribution and use of petroleum fuels accounted for nearly 60% of statewide VOC emissions that came from the top 25 sources in 2005.¹⁵⁶ These compounds can then react with other pollutants in California's air to form ozone and smog. Moreover, many of the combustion products that come out of the exhaust pipe can also be either toxic or hazardous.¹⁵⁷ There are compounds that are unique to both and notably diesel and diesel exhaust can contain heavy metals.¹⁵⁸¥

Other important combustion products include carbon dioxide (CO2) oxides of nitrogen (NOx), oxides of sulfur (SOx), carbon monoxide (CO) from the incomplete combustion of the fuel in the engine, and particulate matter (PM - soot). SOx and NOx can also react to indirectly form secondary particulates. Some of these particulates are referred to as fine particulates and can penetrate deep into the lungs. Ozone and particulates can be a hazard to anyone's health, but are particularly a problem for people suffering from heart and lung disease, and from asthma. Emissions from transportation sources are an important contributor to California having some of the nation's unhealthiest air.¹⁵⁹ According to the state Air Resources Board, ninety percent of Californians breathe unhealthy air because of excessive amounts of one or more air pollutants during some part of the year. The California Air Resources Board has many easily accessible databases available to the public. The ARB publishes annual inventories for many of these compounds according to the state's major air basins as part of its annual almanac, which is also available on the web.¹⁶⁰ The costs to the state of its poor air quality is reviewed in the following section of this report.

Combustion of petroleum-based fuels has resulted in the state's transportation sector accounting for nearly 40% of California's GHG emissions; the largest source in the state.¹⁶¹ Climate change is expected to have major impacts on California.¶ Besides the anticipated ecological impacts of climate change there are manifold economic and political implications for California. Perhaps key are the issues associated with water. These include maintaining sufficient supplies for California's many needs - for municipalities, agriculture, industry, recreation, the preservation of wildlife and their habitat, and hydroelectric and other forms of power generation. Coping with the anticipated increase in the frequency of flooding, and fires raises issues for urban planning, the insurance, and real estate industries.¹⁶² For all of these

 $rac{1}{2}$ See Appendix A for a list of the substances found in gasoline and diesel or as their combustion products.

[¶] See Appendix B for a list of the anticipated impacts the state will suffer because of global warming/climate change.

reasons the state has placed a major focus on dealing with reducing the GHG emissions from the transportation sector in order to help California play its role in fighting global warming.

While the petroleum industry is responsible for creating large amounts of water pollution, they are not alone. The National Academy of Sciences estimates that releases associated with the consumption of petroleum account for nearly 85 percent of the petroleum that finds its way into North American waters. These releases originate either from individual boat owners, nontank vessels, or runoff from paved urban areas. Nearly 600,000 barrels (25,000,000 gallons or 84,000 metric tons) of petroleum compounds are released into North American waters on average each year. This compares with total annual average releases to the waters of North America of just under 2 million barrels (about 76,000,000 gallons or 260,000 metric tons) from all sources including natural seeps. Since the lion's share of petroleum consumption occurs on land, watercourses (rivers, waste- and storm-water streams) transport a significant amount of petroleum compounds to the marine environment. Two-stroke engines are also a small but important source. Together, these two sources (runoff from land and two-stroke engines) are responsible for nearly 75% of the petroleum that finds its way to North American waters as a result of human activities.¹⁶³ This is particularly worrisome because, much of this pollution finds its way and is concentrated in estuaries and bays; some of the most vulnerable ecosystems. Annual worldwide estimates of petroleum input to the sea exceed 9 million barrels (about 380,000,000 gallons or 1,300,000 metric tons).

WHAT ARE THE ALTERNATIVES?

Despite the mounting evidence that growing competition for the world's limited petroleum supplies will continue to keep prices high,¹⁶⁴ advocates for the petroleum industry resist any attempts by California to adopt policies that would seek to either reduce the state's dependence on petroleum, or to increase the supply of alternatives to the California consumer. It seems clear that with the daunting challenges the state faces: of not only avoiding a greater dependence on; but also potentially reducing its reliance on foreign sources of oil; and in dealing with climate change, that California must move towards developing a new transportation energy economy. California cannot achieve the Governor's world leading targets for reducing the state's global warming emissions¹⁶⁵ without dealing with the transportation sector. As the World's 12th largest emitter of greenhouse gases (GHGs), one of the focal points of the state's global warming policy will have to be on how to reduce the state's emissions due to its use of petroleum. This challenge is made all the more difficult in the face of California's growing population and increasing transportation demands.¹⁶⁶

Californian's love their cars and love to drive,¹⁶⁷ and as one of the world's leading economies the shipping and transport of goods is key to the state's continued economic success. As a consequence transportation accounts for nearly half of California's total energy use and represents the largest source of GHGs in the state: at slightly more than 40% of the state's total emissions.¹⁶⁸ In 2002 the state adopted legislation in order to begin to address the GHG emissions that come from transportation,¹⁶⁹ and this is currently facing legal challenge from the automobile manufacturers on the grounds that the bill is being used by California to regulate fuel economy.¹⁷⁰ A bill dealing with alternative fuels and alternative fuel vehicles — that just passed in both the Senate and Assembly, and if implemented would have been able to demonstrate that fuel economy is not the only route through which automobile manufacturers could achieve GHG

reductions¹⁷¹ — was paradoxically vetoed by the Governor. The state's Climate Action Team (CAT) views the increased use of alternative fuels as being critical to the state achieving its GHG emissions reductions targets. Referring to the California law now being challenged in court by the automobile manufacturers, the CAT noted:

"The Air Resources Board's vehicle climate change standards address a significant portion of the transportation sector. *However, an aggressive alternative fuels program will significantly reduce climate change emissions.*"¹⁷² [Emphasis added.]

A major proposition initiative currently underway in the state seeks to help provide a funding base for the research, development, and implementation of alternative transportation pathways in the state. It seeks to do this by raising California's low extraction fees to levels comparable to those collected by other oil producing states. It faces major opposition from the state's oil companies and awaits the decision of California voters on November 7th.

If not alternative fuels then what could Californian's do...???:

- Californians could resort to supporting efforts to enter and expose the last remaining pristine habitats in the country to the devastating industry practices previously described in this report.
- Or Californians could open up their coastal waters to more offshore drilling,¹⁷³ further threatening their fisheries and much-valued coastline.
- Or Californian's could begin using even more damaging and resource intensive pathways that involve the manufacturing of fuels from even more polluting sources such as oil sands, coal, or oil shale.

The extraction and conversion of the low-quality hydrocarbons in heavy oils requires the clearing of large areas of land and the use of considerable amounts of energy and resources.¹⁷⁴ For example, it takes roughly half as much of the energy in a barrel of synthetic sweet crude oil to generate that barrel from the raw resource. Heavy oils are also a significant source of pollutants.¹⁷⁵ Reclamation and restoration of the cleared land is also energy and resource intensive.¹⁷⁶ The same critique also holds true for the use of coal and oil shale.¹⁷⁷ The pursuit of these pathways would actually make it more difficult — if not impossible — for California to meet its GHG reductions targets.

Since seeking greater vehicle fuel efficiency is federally pre-empted,¹⁷⁸ the clear alternative that California is left with is... alternative fuels. The State's policy makers were among the first people in the world to recognize that California's continued use of petroleum-derived fuels is making the state increasingly vulnerable to a growing dependence on foreign sources of crude oil, while at the same time massively increasing the state's environmental footprint. This understanding has been reinforced by the recent dramatic increase in the price of crude oil during the past two and a half years, from a low of around \$30 a barrel to a recent high approaching \$80 a barrel,¹⁷⁹ and which has revealed a potential to disrupt the state's economy. The California Energy Commission has been in the lead on this issue and, beginning with a report in 2003 and continuing on to its most recent biennial Integrated Energy Policy Report, has advocated that the state pursue an aggressive policy towards reducing the state's dependence on petroleum.¹⁸⁰ This policy approach includes increasing the use of alternative fuels and has

culminated in the adoption of a Bioenergy Action Plan,¹⁸¹ and an interagency study of sustainable alternative fuels which is due to be delivered to the legislature by June 30, 2007.¹⁸² The California Biomass Collaborative is also in the process of developing the state's Biomass Roadmap which has sustainability at its core.¹⁸³

Some have argued that California's past alternative fuels endeavors, going back to the late 1980s, have until now been unsuccessful in making any market headway. Ironically, it was in part because of the past threat posed to the oil industry by the possibility that cleaner alternative fuels might succeed in gaining a foothold in the market that the state's past policies ended up forcing the oil industry and car manufacturers to work together in order to make cleaner fuels that ran better in cleaner burning cars; thereby preserving the oil industry's market. The state's past alternative fuels strategy was a victim of its own success, though not quite in ways that state policy makers had envisioned. Today the reality on the ground has changed from when air quality considerations were used to drive the state's transportation policy. With little more than a handful of companies now having a near monopoly on the state's fuel market — one that appears destined to remain in short supply — and in these days when China, Russia and even India have returned to the primacy of "strategic commodities" policies, Californian's must encourage alternative pathways in order to increase alternative supplies of fuel. Moreover, these alternative supply pathways must be environmentally sustainable (ie for each alternative fuel "system" from source to final use in the vehicle), introduce more competition into the marketplace, and reduce our dependence on a fuel source that is in limited supply. It is more important than ever that California leave behind technologies first conceived in the Victorian era

and move the state's economy towards a new transportation technology system. Otherwise California will remain trapped using petroleum derived fuels with all of its costs for society: from the impacts associated with the exploration and development of new resources; through the routine extraction and transport of the crude oil; through to the refining of the crude into transportation fuels; through to the transportation and dispensing of the finished fuels, and finally with the use (combustion) of the fuels.

CONCLUSION

Californians face some difficult choices:

- whether to continue using a transportation technology first developed and conceived during the Victorian era, using fuels first developed and conceived during the Victorian era;
- whether to allow their fuel choices to be determined for them by a growing monopoly of oil companies
 - who as highlighted in this report admit that it is in their interest to keep the market in short supply
- whether to allow the price they pay for their limited fuel choices to be determined by the ever strengthening oil industry monopoly in California
- whether to allow things to continue to move ever closer towards market conditions reminiscent of California's 2000-2001 electricity crisis
- whether to continue to support an industry that has such a damaging impact on the environment and community health (as outlined in this report)

- whether to continue to allow the industry to explore for the few remaining small deposits of oil and gas that remain in what little remains of the pristine areas of our public lands
- whether to allow the industry to expand its drilling program off California's coast
- whether to support this industry in its push to extend its archaic business model into the future by moving us from the current fuel system over to a fuel system based on even more environmentally damaging and resource intensive sources of polluting feed-stocks such as: oil sands, coal, and oil shale
- whether to increase the fuel supply by supporting the introduction of more fuel alternatives into the market, thereby
 - o re-introducing competition into the fuels market place, and at the same time
 - increasing consumer choice
- whether to chose to support the development of a fuel system designed to be based on sustainable renewable resources that are less damaging to the environment and community health
- whether to chose to support moving towards an environmentally sustainable transportation model based on:
 - o new cleaner and less polluting transportation vehicle technologies
 - a new cleaner and less polluting fuel system
- whether to chose an alternative that helps to further improve air quality
- whether to chose an alternative that helps to reduce the State's global warming emissions and fight the accelerating climate change that will be incredibly damaging to California
- whether to support the development of a new transportation economy
- whether to support the development of the world's first truly 21st century transportation economy
- whether to allow the development of alternative fuels to serve as the development onramp to the hydrogen highway.

But making difficult and world changing choices is nothing new to Californian's. Beginning with the great gold rush of 1849 California has always been a state that has been ahead of its time, leading to its being known as "The Great Exception".¹⁸⁴ This "state of the state" has not only applied to California's economic, social, and political development, but also to its coveted role as the world's leading innovator in developing new technologies and in setting new environmental standards. This is a role for which Californians should be justifiably proud.

California has always been a state that despite all outside appearances has been fairly successful at meeting the most daunting of social, political, and economic challenges in the past. In recent years however, we as a state have had limited success in facing the challenge of reinventing ourselves and in holding to our traditional place as the Great Exception. The basis for much of the state's early success — namely the state's rapid population growth — now poses a key challenge threatening our future prosperity. Our large population has always allowed us to capitalize on our rich and diverse resource base and to thereby build an economic and educational system that is the envy of the world. However, within the limited confines of the our nearly 164,000 square miles, and with a population now exceeding 37 million we can no longer continue to live as we had in the past.¹⁸⁵ Such a large population — projected to reach

somewhere between 44 and 48 million by the year 2025^{186} * — is constantly placing the health of the state's environment and population at risk. Certainly most Californian's are familiar with the challenges they face as residents when it comes to accessing clean air and clean water.

One of the key environmental challenges that come with having a large population is the challenge of resource consumption, and California's world leading economy (it would be ranked 8th if it were ranked as a separate international economy) is one that has been fueled by the consumption of large amounts of energy.¹⁸⁷ The use of petroleum has been key to California's success, and here too in the latter parts of the 19th century and the early parts of the 20th century the state was blessed with a wealth of its own supplies of this critical energy feedstock.¹⁸⁸ Those days are now fast running out, and it is time that we move on, move on towards developing a 21st century the barrel.

^{*} California has roughly 155,000 square miles of dry land, not all of which is readily inhabitable. However it is a useful thought experiment to simply divide the population by the land base, in which case the state has a current population density in excess of 238 people per square mile. At 44-48 million the density rises to between 283 and 310 people per square mile.

APPENDIX A

The substances found in gasoline and diesel or their combustion products.

GASOLINE

Acetaldehyde* Acetylene Acrolein Benzaldehyde Benzene* 1.3-Butadiene* n-Butane 2,3-Dimethylbutane 2,3-Dimethylpentane 2,4-Dimethylpentane (Isomer of 2,3-dimethylpentane) Ethane Ethanol Ethene Ethylbenzene* Ethylene Formaldehyde* Formic acid Product of acetylene Furan* - Product of 1,3-butadiene n-Hexane Isobutene Isopentane Methylcyclopentane 3-Methylhexane 2-Methylpentane 3-Methylpentane 2-Methylpropane Methyl t-butyl ether (MTBE)* - Phased out in California in 2003 Naphthalene* Nitro-PAHs* *n*-Octane PAHs* n-Pentane Peroxyacetyl nitrate (PAN) Phenol Product of benzene Propylene (propene) Styrene* Toluene 1,2,3-Trimethylbenzene 1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 2,2,4-Trimethylpentane 2,3,4-Trimethylpentane Isomer of 2,2,4-trimethylpentane m-Xylene o-Xylene p-Xylene

* Known carcinogen as indicated by OEHHA. See: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, January 17, 2006. Atmospheric Chemistry of Gasoline-Related Emissions: Formation of Pollutants of Potential Concern. http://www.oehha.ca.gov/air/gasemiss.html

Diesel is on the next page.

DIESEL

Acetaldehyde* acrolein aniline* antimony compounds* arsenic* benzene* beryllium compounds* biphenyl hexane bis[2-ethylhexyl]phthalate* 1,3-butadiene* cadmium* chlorine chlorobenzene and their derivatives chromium compounds cobalt compounds* cresol isomers cyanide compounds dioxins and dibenzofurans* dibutylphthalate ethyl benzene* formaldehyde* inorganic lead* manganese compounds mercury compounds* methanol methyl ethyl ketone naphthalene* nickel* 4-nitrobiphenyl* phenol phosphorus polycyclic organic matter, including PAHs* propionaldehyde selenium compounds styrene* toluene xylene isomers and mixtures o-xylenes m-xylenes p-xylenes

* Known carcinogen as indicated by CARB and OEHHA or from state listings. See: California Air Resources Board & Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, June 1998. STAFF REPORT: INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR RULEMAKING: PROPOSED IDENTIFICATION OF DIESEL EXHAUST AS A TOXIC AIR CONTAMINANT. http://www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/dieseltac/staffrpt.pdf Also See: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, NOVEMBER 14, 2003. CHEMICALS KNOWN TO THE STATE TO CAUSE CANCER OR REPRODUCTIVE TOXICITY. http://www.oehha.org/prop65/CRNR notices/list changes/111403lsta.html

APPENDIX B The anticipated impacts of climate change on California

California will become hotter and the health of Californian's and their environment will suffer.

1. Average annual temperatures will increase but the increase will be more pronounced during the winter months.

2. The number of extremely hot days will increase. More hot days will have direct and negative effects on the health of all exposed organisms not already adapted to high temperatures, especially during heat waves.

a. the frequency and severity of associated morbidity, and mortality expected from the direct effects of increased summer temperatures and humidity will increase.

b. opportunities for ozone formation will increase, which has direct negative effects on human health.

c . large temperature increases in rivers could result, especially during the dry season, and endanger many fish and aquatic species.

3. The pattern and severity of pest infestations will be altered.

4. Increased morbidity and mortality may occur in the resident plant community due to heat stress and reduced pest resistance.

5. Carrier-borne diseases will become more common as the host organisms that previously had limited or no success in California's environs will be able to gain a foothold and/or expand their range(s).

The upward shift in temperatures will cause the distribution of plant communities to rapidly change.

6. There will be a significant shift in either:

a. the location of plant communities (northward and/or upslope),

b. the makeup of those plant communities (eg desert becomes grassland, forest becomes shrub etc.),

c. or both,

d. with some communities seeing major species loss or the communities themselves disappearing all together.

Winters will become shorter, wetter, and stormier, and summers will become longer, hotter and drier.

7. The later winters and earlier springs brought on by the increase in annual average temperature will lead to:

a. the accumulation of less snow pack, a significant reservoir of water for California, and

b. an earlier spring runoff, placing further stress on California's already overburdened

water supplies earlier in the dry season than has historically been the case.

8. Precipitation and weather patterns will become more variable. This variability will result in:

a. more frequent and intense storms,

b. more flooding, both in terms of frequency and magnitude, and more flood-associated erosion; and

c. higher storm surges in conjunction with a rise in sea level due to thermal expansion of the oceans.

9. The increased frequency of large precipitation events will also increase the frequency of large pulse events of pesticide and fertilizer entering the water supply as a result of increased runoff and/or flushing of the water table.

10. Seasonal wind patterns may be altered. This will impact fog patterns along the coast and winter fog in the Central Valley. Fog is a subtle but significant source of moisture in both these regions.

11. Despite increased average annual precipitation the dry season is expected to lengthen leading to a fire season with more frequent, widespread and intense fires.

12. The increase in average annual precipitation will lead to a greater accumulation of fuel during the wet season that is then available for fire in the lengthened dry season.

13. Species life cycles may be altered leading in some instances to a decoupling of the life cycles of mutually beneficial organisms (eg. Insect pollinators and flowering plants).

California's agricultural industry will be placed under stress.

14. Regions considered suitable for specific crop-types will either

- a. shift, and/or
- b. in some cases shrink and
- c. in other cases expand.

15. Increased temperatures will stress crops, poultry, and livestock, potentially reducing productivity and yields.

16. The increase in pest infestations, in the frequency and intensity of storms, and in flooding, will cause more crop damage.

California's coasts will be put at risk and its fisheries threatened.

17. Sea-level rise will flood coastal areas and alter the nature of coastal wetlands and estuaries.

18. Oceanic circulation may be affected altering California's coastal current system and affect productivity.

19. El Niño events will be more frequent and may become more intense further exacerbating the impacts listed under points 5, 8, 9, 12, 16, 17, and 18.

See: Climate Action Team, March 2006. Final Report to Governor Schwarzenegger and the Legislature., and associated documentation. http://www.climatechange.ca.gov/climate_action_team/reports/index.html Potential Consequences of Climate Variability and Change for California. The California Regional Assessment. A report of the California Regional Assessment Group, for the USGCRP. Draft final report (dtd June 2002) from the California Regional Climate Impacts Assessment, University of California, Santa Barbara.

ENDNOTES

¹ California Statistical Abstract (January 2006): Table J-5 — Registration of Motor Vehicles and Trailers Which Paid Fees, by Type of Vehicle, California http://www.dof.ca.gov/html/fs data/STAT-ABS/TABLES/j5.xls - Hill, Elizabeth G., 2002. A Review of the 2002 California Infrastructure plan. California Legislative Analysts Office, 16pp - Federal Highway Administration, Public Road Length - 2004 http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policy/ohim/hs04/pdf/hm10.pdf - California Statistical Abstract (January 2006): Table J-1 — Mileage of Maintained Public Roads by Jurisdiction, California and Counties http://www.dof.ca.gov/html/FS DATA/STAT-ABS/TABLES/j1.xls - Federal Highway Administration, Office of Highway Policy Information, Highway Statistics Series, Highway Statistics 2004. http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policy/ohim/hs04/index.htm; 529,341,000,000 (Urban km) + 107,359,000,000 (Rural km) = 636,700,000,000 km = 636,700,000,000 km x 0.6214 miles/kilometre = 395,645.380,000 miles; This yields a fleet annual average mileage of ~10,438 miles per vehicle per year. The average distance to the sun is ~150,000,000 km. - California Air Resources Board - Vehicle Trends http://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/trends/ems trends.php - California Board of Equalization, http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/reports/imvf10ynet.pdf http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/reports/idiesel10yr.pdf - US. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration, National Transit Database, http://www.ntdprogram.com/ - U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics Table 1-15: Inland Waterway Mileage: 2000 http://www.bts.gov/publications/transportation profile/california/html/table 01 15.html, - U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; There were 905,000 registered boats in California in 2000, ² California Department of Boating and Waterways http://gis.ca.gov/catalog/BrowseRecord.epl?id=1523 Association of American Railroads, Railroads and States - 2004, Washington, DC: December 2005, http://www.aar.org/AboutTheIndustry/StateInformation.asp http://www.aar.org/PubCommon/Documents/AboutTheIndustry/RRState CA.pdf?states=RRState CA.pdf - U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics . 2002. http://www.bts.gov/publications/state transportation profiles/california/html/fast facts.html http://www.bts.gov/publications/state transportation profiles/california/html/table 01 15.html ³ US Army Corps of Engineers, U.S. Waterborne Container Traffic by Port/Waterway in 2004 (Loaded and Empty TEUS), http://www.iwr.usace.army.mil/ndc/wcsc/by porttons04.htm for 2004 - Port of Los Angeles http://www.portoflosangeles.org/ http://www.portoflosangeles.org/factsfigures Portataglance.htm ⁴ During 2001. California region progress report, January 2003: An Inventory of California Coastal Economic Sectors http://www.whoi.edu/mpcweb/research/NOPP/California%20region%20progress%20report%20Jan03.pdf National Ocean Partnership Program research project on Regional Benefit Studies of Coastal Ocean Observing Systems http://www.whoi.edu/science/MPC/dept/research/NOPP%20project.html Shipments Originating in California by Mode of Transportation: 1997. U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics and U.S. Department of Commerce, U.S. Census Bureau, Bureau of Transportation Statistics, California Transportation Profile 2002, table 3-3, http://www.bts.gov/publications/state transportation profiles/california/html/table 03 03.html ⁶ http://www.energy.ca.gov/oil/refineries.html http://www.eia.doe.gov/pub/oil gas/petroleum/data publications/refinery capacity data/current/table1.pdf ⁷ http://www.energy.ca.gov/oil/statistics/crude oil receipts.html ⁸ Board of Equalization - http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/reports/imvf10ynet.pdf http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/reports/idiesel10yr.pdf ⁹ California Energy Commission, 2005 Integrated Energy Policy Report, Commission Final Report http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005 energypolicy/index.html ¹⁰ CEC, April 18, 2006. California Crude Oil Production and Imports. http://www.energy.ca.gov/2006publications/CEC-600-2006-006/CEC-600-2006-006.PDF ¹¹ http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/oog/info/state/ca.html http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/oog/info/state/tx.html ¹² California Department of Conservation, 2006. Oil and Gas Statistics. pp65-73 2005 Annual Report.

ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/oil/annual reports/2005/0102stats 05.pdf ¹³ Department of Conservation, Division of Oil, Gas & Geothermal Resourdces, Map of Oil, Gas and Geothermal Fields in California. http://www.energy.ca.gov/oil/documents/MAP OIL GAS GEOTHERMAL.PDF 2005 Annual Report, http://www.consrv.ca.gov/DOG/pubs_stats/annual_reports/annual_reports.htm CEC, April 18, 2006. California Crude Oil Production and Imports. ¹⁴ MMS, Maps of Active Leases and Platforms – California. http://www.mms.gov/omm/pacific/lease/maps.htm Department of Conservation, Division of Oil, Gas, & Geothermal Resources, 2005 Annual Report. ¹⁵ CEC, August 9, 2005. Long Term Crude Oil Supply and Prices. http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-600-2005-031/CEC-600-2005-031.PDF ¹⁶ Skinner, R., May 2006. World Energy Trends: Recent Developments and their Implications for Arab Countries. prepared for the 8th Arab Energy Conference, Amman, Jordan, http://www.oxfordenergy.org/pdfs/SP19.pdf Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, SP 19, 118pp ¹⁷ Fattouh, Bassam, June 2006. Spare Capacity, Oil Prices and the Macroeconomy. Reader in Finance and Management for the Middle East, Centre for Financial and Management Studies, SOAS, University of London & Senior Research Fellow, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. http://www.oxfordenergy.org/presentations/spare capacity.pdf, presented to Oxford Economic Forecasting's conference 'Global Macro and Industrial Outlook' held in London on 6-7 June 2006. ¹⁸ International Energy Agency (IEA), August 2006. Key World Energy Statistics. http://www.iea.org/Textbase/nppdf/free/2006/Kev2006.pdf Business Wire, Oct 7, 2005. India's Demand for Petroleum has Increased Three Times to 10% Per Annum while Domestic Production of Oil has Declined. http://www.findarticles.com/p/articles/mi m0EIN/is 2005 Oct 7/ai n15678895 Asia Times, Dec 1, 2005. The foundations for an Asian oil and gas grid. http://www.atimes.com/atimes/South Asia/GL01Df02.html India: A Growing International Oil and Gas Player http://www.iea.org/textbase/papers/2000/oilgas.pdf ¹⁹ For an overview of the controversy surrounding the estimation of oil reserves SEE: Charles Hall, Pradeep Tharakan, John Hallock, Cutler Cleveland, and Michael Jefferson, 2003. Hydrocarbons and the evolution of human culture. NATURE 426: 318-322, November 20, 2003. ALSO SEE the coverage in the Oil & Gas Journal on future energy supplies, and Hirsch, Robert L., Roger Bezdek, and Robert Wendling, February 2005. PEAKING OF WORLD OIL PRODUCTION: IMPACTS, MITIGATION, & RISK MANAGEMENT. A report prepared for the Department of Energy's National Energy Technology Laboratory — NETL, by Science Applications International Corporation — SAIC. 91pp, ²⁰ EIA, June 2006. International Energy Outlook 2006. EIA, October 5, 2006. World Proved Reserves of Oil and Natural Gas, Most Recent Estimates http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/international/reserves.html - BP Statistical Review of World Energy. 2006. http://www.bp.com/productlanding.do?categoryId=91&contentId=7017990 - CEC, September 8, 2005. Long Term Crude Oil Supply and Prices - Consultant Report CEC-600-2005-031 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-600-2005-031/CEC-600-2005-031.PDF - Oak Ridge National Laboratory, October 2003. RUNNING OUT OF AND INTO OIL: ANALYZING GLOBAL OIL DEPLETION AND TRANSITION THROUGH 2050. by David L. Greene, Janet L. Hopson, and Jia Li. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/ba/pdfs/wesmpaper.pdf - EIA, July 28, 2000. Long Term World Oil Supply. (A Resource Base/Production Path Analysis). By John Wood and Gary. Slide 9: http://www.eia.doe.gov/pub/oil gas/petroleum/presentations/2000/long term supply/sld009.htm, http://www.eia.doe.gov/pub/oil gas/petroleum/presentations/2000/long term supply/tsld009.htm, and Note 25. ²¹ Holditch, Stephen A., November 2003. The Increasing Role of Unconventional Reservoirs in the Future of the Oil and Gas Business. Journal of Petroleum Technology. http://www.spe.org/spe/jpt/jsp/jptmonthlysection/0,2440,1104 11038 1664935 1664947,00.html ²² Current world consumption is ~80 million barrels per day = ~29-30 billion barrels per year. cf: EIA, June 2006.

International Energy Outlook 2006. Chapter 3: World Oil Markets

²³ Mabro, R. September 2006. The Peak Oil Theory. Oxford Energy Comment. Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. http://www.oxfordenergy.org/pdfs/comment_0906-2.pdf

²⁴ Energy Information Administration, International Petroleum Monthly, Posted: September 29, 2006. http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/ipsr/t21.xls Bassam Fattouh, September 28, 2006. Oil Prices & Markets: Ten Observations Department for Financial and Management Studies, SOAS & Oxford Institute for Energy Studies http://www.oxfordenergy.org/presentations/Fattouh-TenObservations.pdf Fattouh, Bassam, June 2006. Spare Capacity, Oil Prices and the Macroeconomy. http://www.oxfordenergy.org/presentations/spare capacity.pdf, presented to Oxford Economic Forecasting's conference 'Global Macro and Industrial Outlook' held in London on 6-7 June 2006. Goldman Sachs Global Investment Research, March 30, 2005. US Energy: Oil United States. ²⁵ IEA, 2005. 30 KEY ENERGY TRENDS in the IEA & Worldwide. http://www.iea.org//textbase/nppdf/free/2005/energy_trends.pdf_This compares with total forecasted expenditures of around \$6 trillion for all future aspects of oil and gas development and use. ²⁶ p.5, ExxonMobil, February 2004. A report on Energy Trends, Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Alternative Energy. http://www.exxonmobil.com/corporate/newsroom/publications/TheLampSpr2004/story6.asp, Also available at: http://www.peakoil.net/Publications/20040201ExxonMobil.pdf ²⁷ Financial Times, September 21, 2006. Cost of search for energy reserves soars. Oil & Gas Journal, August 21, 2006. End of oil? CEERT, June 2005. Risky Diet 2005: Global Energy Resource Adequacy. 70pp. ²⁸ Energy Information Administration, Domestic Crude Oil First Purchase Prices by Area, http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/pet/pet pri dfp1 k a.htm WorldOil.com, Industry Statistics http://www.worldoil.com/infocenter/Statistics main.asp Oil Market Report, http://omrpublic.iea.org/, Energy Information Administration, Petroleum Navigator, http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/pet/hist/wtotworldw.htm, ²⁹ Consumers Union & Consumer Federation of America, August 8, 2006. Oil Giants Continue to Benefit from US Energy Policy While Consumers and the Nation Suffer. http://www.consumerfed.org/pdfs/US Energy Policy Release080806.pdf ³⁰ Oil and Gas Journal, October 16, 2006. MARKET WATCH: Crude prices climb; OPEC calls meeting. Financial Times, September 26, 2006. Editorial comment: Spot price fall does not herald cheap oil -US Edition. (Going up, Going down - London Edition) Green Car Congress, September 12, 2006. EIA Expects Oil to Hold Around \$70 per Barrel for 2007; US Consumption to Rise 2%. EIA, September 12th, 2006. Short-Term Energy Outlook. http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/steo/pub/contents.html Goldman Sachs Global Investment Research, March 30, 2005. US Energy: Oil United States. RAND Corporation, August 28, 2003. Press Release: RAND STUDY FINDS OIL REFINERS EXPECT FUEL SUPPLIES WILL REMAIN VOLATILE FOR NEXT DECADE. http://www.rand.org/news/press.03/08.28.html ³¹ Fattouh, Bassam, June 2006. Spare Capacity, Oil Prices and the Macroeconomy. Reader in Finance and Management for the Middle East, Centre for Financial and Management Studies, SOAS, University of London & Senior Research Fellow, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. http://www.oxfordenergy.org/presentations/spare capacity.pdf, presented to Oxford Economic Forecasting's conference 'Global Macro and Industrial Outlook' held in London on 6-7 June 2006. ³² Congressional Research Service, Updated March 17, 2006. U.S. Trade Deficit and the Impact of Rising Oil Prices ³³ CEC, California Gasoline Prices Adjusted for Inflation. http://www.energy.ca.gov/gasoline/statistics/gasoline_cpi_adjusted.html ³⁴ According to the Board of Equalization 15,937,922,585 gallons of gasoline were sold in California during 2005. At \$2.47/gallon that comes to \$39,366,668,784. Each additional cent would cost \$159,937,923. http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/reports/imvf10ynet.pdf ³⁵ Congressional Research Service, April 18, 2006. RL33373 - Oil Industry Profit Review 2005. http://ncseonline.org/NLE/CRs/abstract.cfm?NLEid=1621 ³⁶ USA TODAY, February 2, 2006. 2005 trade deficit hits record of \$725.8B. http://www.usatoday.com/money/economy/trade/2006-02-10-trade-deficit x.htm ³⁷ Bloomberg, October 12, 2006. U.S. Trade Deficit Unexpectedly Widens to Record \$69.9 Billion. http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=20601087&sid=arSuj0nVohCM&refer=home Canadian Press October 12, 2006. Soaring oil prices push U.S. trade deficit to another record high in August.

http://www.cbc.ca/cp/business/061012/b101282.html

³⁸ Congressional Research Service, Updated March 17, 2006. U.S. Trade Deficit and the Impact of Rising Oil Prices. by James K. Jackson, Specialist in International Trade and Finance, Foreign Affairs, Defense, and Trade Division. http://ncseonline.org/NLE/crs/abstract.cfm?NLEid=1565 ³⁹ Congressional Research Service, Updated March 17, 2006. U.S. Trade Deficit and the Impact of Rising Oil Prices ⁴⁰ CEC, California Gasoline Prices Adjusted for Inflation. http://www.energy.ca.gov/gasoline/statistics/gasoline_cpi_adjusted.html ⁴¹ According to the Board of Equalization 15,937,922,585 gallons of gasoline were sold in California during 2005. At \$2,47/gallon that comes to \$39,366,668,784. Each additional cent would cost \$159,937,923. http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/reports/imvf10vnet.pdf ⁴² Slocum, T., 2001. No Competition: Oil Industry Mergers Provide Higher Profits, Leave Consumers With Fewer Choices. Public Citizen. http://www.citizen.org/documents/nocompetition.PDF ⁴³ Consumer Federation of America and Consumers Union, May 2004. FUELING PROFITS: INDUSTRY CONSOLIDATION, EXCESS PROFITS & FEDERAL NEGLECT: DOMESTIC CAUSES OF RECENT GASOLINE AND NATURAL GAS PRICE SHOCKS., http://www.consumerfed.org/pdfs/oilprofits.pdf ⁴⁴ GAO, July 7, 2004. Testimony Before the Subcommittee on Energy Policy, Natural Resources and Regulatory Affairs, Committee on Government Reform, House of Representatives. Mergers and Many Other Factors Affect U.S. Gasoline Markets, Statement of Jim Wells, Director Natural Resources and Environment. http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d04951t.pdf ⁴⁵ Office of the Attorney General - California Dept. of Justice Update March 2004. Attorney General's Task Force on California Gasoline Prices, Staff Report, of May, 2000. http://ag.ca.gov/antitrust/gasoline/index.php ⁴⁶ Public Policy Institute of California, January 2003. Report: The California Electricity Crisis: Causes and Policy Options. http://www.ppic.org/main/publication.asp?i=374 Public Policy Institute of California, January 2003. Research Brief: What Can Be Learned from California's Electricity Crisis? http://www.ppic.org/main/publication.asp?i=375 ⁴⁷ Consumers Union & Consumer Federation of America, August 8, 2006. Oil Giants Continue to Benefit from US Energy Policy While Consumers and the Nation Suffer. Citing: Final Report of the Federal Trade Commission, March 29, 2001. Midwest Gasoline Price Investigation. http://www.ftc.gov/os/2001/03/mwgasrpt.htm ⁴⁸ Consumers Union & Consumer Federation of America, August 8, 2006. Oil Giants Continue to Benefit from US Energy Policy While Consumers and the Nation Suffer. Citing: pp. 16 & 17 In: RAND Corporation, 2003. New Forces at Work in Refining: Industry Views of Critical Business and Operations Trends. 146pp., By: D. J. Peterson & Sergej Mahnovski. http://www.rand.org/pubs/monograph reports/MR1707/index.html ⁴⁹ Consumer Federation of America and Consumers Union, May 2004. FUELING PROFITS: INDUSTRY CONSOLIDATION, EXCESS PROFITS & FEDERAL NEGLECT: DOMESTIC CAUSES OF RECENT GASOLINE AND NATURAL GAS PRICE SHOCKS., http://www.consumerfed.org/pdfs/oilprofits.pdf February 1, 2006, Testimony of Tyson Slocum, Director Public Citizen's Energy Program. Before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary: Consolidation in the Energy Industry: Raising Prices at the Pump? http://www.citizen.org/documents/senatetestimony06.pdf ⁵⁰ Office of the Attorney General - California Dept. of Justice. Attorney General's Task Force on California Gasoline Prices, Staff Report of May, 2000, http://ag.ca.gov/antitrust/gasoline/index.php ⁵¹ CEC. August 15, 2006. FINAL Report to the Governor: Spring 2006 Petroleum Fuels Price Spike. CEC-600-2006-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2006publications/CEC-600-2006-012/CEC-600-2006-012.PDF ⁵² Associated Press, August 1, 2006. Refiners increase margins even as crude oil costs rise ⁵³ International Energy Agency (IEA), November 4, 2003. World Energy Investment Outlook. ⁵⁴ \$3 trillion dollars between 2005 and 2030. IEA, 2005. 30 KEY ENERGY TRENDS in the IEA & Worldwide. http://www.iea.org//textbase/nppdf/free/2005/energy_trends.pdf

⁵⁵ Harrison Lovegrove & Co. and John S. Herold, Inc. September 20, 2006. Global Upstream Performance Review 2006. http://www.hargrove.co.uk/counterGUPR2006presentation.asp

⁵⁶ e.g. see discussions in: Harrison Lovegrove & Co. and John S. Herold, Inc. September 20, 2006. Global Upstream Performance Review 2006. http://www.hargrove.co.uk/counterGUPR2006presentation.asp

⁵⁷ 2004 and 2006 totals do not include donations of "Levin" funds to state and local party committees. Levin funds were created by the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002.

\$98,482,391. Center for Responsive Politics: Oil & Gas: Long-Term Contribution Trends

http://www.opensecrets.org/industries/indus.asp?cycle=2006&ind=E01, Accessed Oct 16, 2006.

 ⁵⁸ Definition of Levin Funds - http://www.opensecrets.org/basics/glossary.asp?ID=38
⁵⁹ The Institute on Money in State Politics, October 3, 2005. OIL & GAS GIVING IN THE STATES. http://www.followthemoney.org/press/Reports/200510031.pdf

⁶⁰ The Institute on Money in State Politics, State at a Glance: California. Accessed Oct 16, 2006. http://www.followthemoney.org/database/state_overview.phtml?si=20065

⁶¹ The Best Energy Bill Corporations Could Buy: Summary of Industry Giveaways in the 2005 Energy Bill
http://www.citizen.org/cmep/energy_enviro_nuclear/electricity/energybill/2005/articles.cfm?ID=13980
⁶² WASHINGTON, March 28 — Incentives for oil and gas companies that drill in the Gulf of Mexico will cost the

federal government at least \$20 billion over the next 25 years, according to the draft of a Congressional report obtained on Tuesday.

The new estimates, prepared by the Government Accountability Office, also warn that \$80 billion in revenue could be lost over the same period if oil and gas companies won a new lawsuit that seeks a further reduction in their royalty payments.

New York Times, March 28, 2006. G.A.O. Sees Loss in Oil Royalties of at Least \$20 Billion. Contains a link to the draft report.

http://www.nytimes.com/2006/03/29/business/29leases.html?ei=5088&en=7d60f9ce50527ea1&ex=1301288400&pa rtner=rssnyt&emc=rss&pagewanted=print

⁶³ California Air Resources Board - State Area Designations Maps. http://www.arb.ca.gov/desig/adm/adm.htm#state EPA NAAQS (National Ambient Air Quality Standards), Green Book - Nonattainment Areas for Criteria Pollutants http://www.epa.gov/oar/oaqps/greenbk/index.html

⁶⁴ American Lung Association of California, May 2, 2006. Press Release: Nearly 5 Million Californians Have Asthma, Costing \$1.3 Billion for Hospitalizations and Medications Annually.

http://www.californialung.org/press/060502WorldAsthmaDay.html

⁶⁵ California Health Interview Survey, August 17, 2006. UCLA Center for Health Policy Research, Health Policy Research Brief, Living Near Heavy Traffic Increases Asthma Severity.

http://www.healthpolicy.ucla.edu/pubs/publication.asp?pubID=181#download

⁶⁶ UCLA Center for Health Policy Research, May 7, 2002 Press Release: LANDMARK CALIFORNIA HEALTH STUDY REPORTS THAT ASTHMA IS A MAJOR ISSUE FOR CALIFORNIANS.

http://www.healthpolicy.ucla.edu/pubs/files/asthmapressrelease.pdf

⁶⁷ Peters, Annette, Stephanie von Klot, Margit Heier, Ines Trentinaglia, Allmut Hörmann, H. Erich Wichmann, Hannelore Löwel, October 21, 2004. Exposure to Traffic and the Onset of Myocardial Infarction. New England Journal of Medicine, 351(17):1721-1730, http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/short/351/17/1721

⁶⁸ Ozone reduces crop yields and alters competition with weeds such as yellow nutsedge

Grantz, David A. and Anil Shrestha, April-June 2005. California Agriculture 59(2): 137-143. http://calag.ucop.edu/0502AMJ/pdfs/Ozone.pdf

Chapter 8 in: California Air Resources Board and Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, October 2005 Revision. Revised - Staff Report / Initial Statement of Reasons for the Review of the California Ambient Air Ouality Standard for Ozone, http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/aags/ozone-rs/rev-staff/rev-staff/htm

⁶⁹ Graedel, T.E. and P.J. Crutzen, 1993. Atmospheric Change: An Earth System perspective. W.H. Freeman.

446pp.

⁷⁰ Physicians for Social Responsibility, April 2003. CALIFORNIA REPORT. DEGREES OF DANGER: HOW SMARTER ENERGY CHOICES CAN PROTECT OUR HEALTH IN CALIFORNIA.

http://www.psr.org/site/DocServer/Degrees_of_Danger_California.pdf?docID=544

⁷¹ American Lung Association of California, January 2006., based on consultations with California Air Resources Board staff and citing data in:

California Air Resources Board and Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, October 2005 Revision. Revised - Staff Report / Initial Statement of Reasons for the Review of the California Ambient Air Quality Standard for Ozone, http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/aaqs/ozone-rs/rev-staff/rev-staff.htm California Air Resources Board and Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, May 3 2002. Staff Report: Public Hearing to Consider Amendments to the Ambient Air Quality Standards for Particulate

Matter and Sulfates. http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/aags/std-rs/pm-final/pm-final.htm.

California Department of Health Services (2000) Death Records.

⁷² McConnell, Rob, Kiros Berhane, Frank Gilliland, Stephanie J. London, Talat Islam, W. James Gauderman, Edward Avol, Helene G. Margolis, & John M. Peters, February 2, 2002. Asthma in exercising children exposed to ozone: a cohort study., Lancet 359(9304): 386-91

⁷³ Pope, C.A. 3rd, Burnett, R.T., Thun M.J., Calle, E.E., Krewski D., Ito K., & Thurston G.D., March 6, 2002. Lung cancer, cardiopulmonary mortality, and long-term exposure to fine particulate air pollution. JAMA.

287(9):1132-41 ⁷⁴ USC Public Relations, September 23, 2005. Press Release: Air Pollution Found to Pose Greater Danger to Health than Earlier Thought: USC-led study shows significant death risk linked to airborne particles. http://www.usc.edu/uscnews/stories/11612.html

Jerrett, Michael, Richard T. Burnett, Renjun Ma, C. Arden Pope III, Daniel Krewski, K. Bruce Newbold, George Thurston, Yuanli Shi, Norm Finkelstein, Eugenia E. Calle, and Michael J. Thun, November 2005.

Spatial Analysis of Air Pollution and Mortality in Los Angeles., Epidemiology 16: 727-736)

⁵ California Air Resources Board and Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, October 2005 Revision. Revised - Staff Report / Initial Statement of Reasons for the Review of the California Ambient Air Quality Standard for Ozone, http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/aaqs/ozone-rs/rev-staff/rev-staff.htm

⁷⁶ California Air Resources Board - Children's Health Study.

http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/chs/chs.htm

⁷⁷ Gauderman, W. James, Edward Avol, Frank Gilliland, Hita Vora, Duncan Thomas, Kiros Berhane, Rob McConnell, Nino Kuenzli, Fred Lurmann, Edward Rappaport, Helene Margolis, David Bates, and John Peters, September 9, 2004. The Effect of Air Pollution on Lung Development from 10 to 18 Years of Age. New England Journal of Medicine, 351(11):1057-1067. http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/short/351/11/1057

⁷⁸ California-EPA, June 24, 2004. Press Release: ARB's 10-Year Children's Health Study Complete. http://www.arb.ca.gov/newsrel/nr062404.htm

⁷⁹ California Air Resources Board, March 22, 2006. Emission Reduction Plan for Ports and Goods Movement. Appendix A - Quantification of the Health Impacts and Economic Valuation of Air Pollution from Ports and Goods Movement in California., 111pp. http://www.arb.ca.gov/planning/gmerp/march21plan/appendix a.doc

⁸⁰ "Compliance with the federal PM10 and ozone standards and continual progress toward the state visibility standard is projected to result in an average annual benefit of \$6.6 billion. The \$6.6 billion includes roughly \$2.6 billion for averted illness and higher survival rates, \$2 billion for congestion relief, \$1.9 billion for visibility improvements, \$63 million for reduced damage to materials, and \$18 million for increased crop yields.

The total benefits of the draft final Plan are expected to exceed \$6.6 billion since not all of the benefits associated with the implementation of the Plan can be quantified."

South Coast Air Quality Management District, 2003. FINAL SOCIOECONOMIC REPORT FOR THE FINAL 2003 AQMP, http://www.aqmd.gov/aqmp/docs/2003AQMPSocio.pdf

⁸¹ San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District, October 2, 2006. Draft 2007 8-hour ozone attainment plan. http://www.valleyair.org/Workshops/public workshops idx.htm#2007ozoneplan

⁸² eg. SEE: Delucchi, Mark A., Spring 1996. Total Cost of Motor-Vehicle Use. Access. No. 8.pp7-13 www.uctc.net/access/access.asp.

⁸³ Texas Transportation Institute Urban Mobility Information, TTI Urban Mobility Report - 2005 Urban Mobility Study. http://mobility.tamu.edu/ums/

⁸⁴ Delucchi, Mark A., September 2005 (March 1, 2006 revision). DRAFT REPORT - The Social-Cost Calculator (SCC): Documentation of Methods and Data, and Case Study of Sacramento. ITS-Davis. For the Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG) and the Northeast States for Coordinated Air-Use Management (NESCAUM). Publication No. UCD-ITS-RR-05-18. http://www.its.ucdavis.edu/publications/2005/UCD-ITS-RR-05-18.pdf ⁸⁵ International Center for Technology Assessment, November 16, 1998. The Real Price of Gasoline. http://www.icta.org/doc/Real%20Price%20of%20Gasoline.pdf

⁸⁶ University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute, & Natural Resources Defense Council, July 2005. In The Tank: How Oil Prices Threaten Automakers' Profits and Jobs.

http://www.nrdc.org/air/transportation/inthetank/contents.asp

⁸⁷O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003. JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617. http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf ⁸⁸ Bureau of Land Management, Utah State Office, Last Updated: April 06, 2006. Seismic Science. http://www.ut.blm.gov/stonecabin/seismicscience.htm U.S. Geological Survey, Coastal and Marine Geology Program, Woods Hole Science Center. Seafloor Mapping Technology http://woodshole.er.usgs.gov/operations/sfmapping/ Environmental Working Group, 2005. Who Owns The West? Oil & Gas Leases in America's West http://www.ewg.org/oil and gas/execsumm.php How stuff works. How Oil Drilling Works, by Craig C. Freudenrich, Ph.D. http://www.howstuffworks.com/oildrilling1.htm ⁸⁹ National Academy of Sciences, 2005. Marine Mammal Populations and Ocean Noise: Determining When Noise Causes Biologically Significant Effects. http://www.nap.edu/catalog/11147.html#toc National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Ocean Noise and Marine Mammals. http://www.nap.edu/openbook/0309085365/html/index.html National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Cumulative Environmental Effects of Oil and Gas Activities on Alaska's North Slope http://www.nap.edu/openbook/0309087376/html/index.html National Academy of Sciences, 2000. Marine Mammals and Low-Frequency Sound: Progress Since 1994. http://www.nap.edu/openbook/030906886X/html/index.html National Academy of Sciences, 1994. Low-Frequency Sound and Marine Mammals: Current Knowledge and Research Needs. http://www.nap.edu/openbook/0309050251/html/index.html ⁹⁰ Financial Times, October 10, 2006. Quest for oil goes to the ends of the earth. Financial Times, October 10, 2006. Costs and dangers rise on the road to an exploration. Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School, http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf ⁹¹ Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Drilling Fluid. http://www.osha.gov/SLTC/etools/oilandgas/drilling/drillingfluid.html US-EPA, Industrial Water Pollution Controls. Effluent Guidelines for Oil and Gas Extraction (Synthetic-Based Drilling Fluids) http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/guide/sbf/ US-EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project, October 2000. Profile of the Oil and Gas Extraction Industry, Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance, 165pp. http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/publications/assistance/sectors/notebooks/oil.html ⁹² For risks to workers see: Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Oil and Gas Well Drilling Safety and Health Topic Page http://www.osha.gov/SLTC/etools/oilandgas/index.html ⁹³ The Minerals Management Service, Gulf of Mexico Offshore Region, September 2006. Effects of Oil and Gas Exploration and Development at Selected Continental Slope Sites in the Gulf of Mexico Overview. http://www.gomr.mms.gov/PI/PDFImages/ESPIS/3/3878.pdf Announcement with links to the full report: http://www.gomr.mms.gov/homepg/whatsnew/techann/2006/tech2006-044-045-046.pdf#search=%22MMS%202006-044%22 For a more comprehensive look at the breadth of impacts of offshore drilling see: The Minerals Management Service. Gulf of Mexico Offshore Region, Environmental Reports by Year and Report Number http://www.gomr.mms.gov/homepg/regulate/environ/techsumm/rec pubs.html ⁹⁴ US-EPA, Industrial Water Pollution Controls. Effluent Guidelines for Oil and Gas Extraction (Synthetic-Based Drilling Fluids) http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/guide/sbf/ ⁹⁵ "...the North Slope operations -- like oil production facilities everywhere -- taint the environment in a more substantial, but invisible, way. They release into the air a steady stream of pollutants and greenhouse gases, spewed by vehicles, power generators and the drilling process itself. Estimates vary, but the North Slope oil fields probably produce more smog-forming nitrogen oxides than Washington, D.C., and more carbon dioxide than San Francisco." San Francisco Chronicle, August 24, 2006. Alaska's clear air may have dark cloud: Pollutants from oil production facilities are hard to see -- but crucial. David R. Baker, Chronicle Staff Writer http://www.sfgate.com/cgi-

bin/article.cgi?file=/chronicle/archive/2006/08/24/BUGDDKNUCH1.DTL&type=business

Gwich'in Nation, History of with North Slope Oil Development. http://www.gwichinsteeringcommittee.org/history.html National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Cumulative Environmental Effects of Oil and Gas Activities on Alaska's North Slope http://www.nap.edu/openbook/0309087376/html/index.html O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003. JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617. http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf ⁹⁶ O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003, JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617. http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf ⁹⁷ US-EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project, October 2000. Profile of the Oil and Gas Extraction Industry, Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance, 165pp. http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/publications/assistance/sectors/notebooks/oil.html ⁹⁸ eg. USGS, 2003. Environmental Impacts of Petroleum Production: Initial Results from the Osage-Skiatook Petroleum Environmental Research Sites, Osage County, Oklahoma, 2003. http://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/wri03-4260/ ⁹⁹ California Department of Conservation, Division of Oil, Gas, & Geothermal Resources - Injection Wells. http://www.consrv.ca.gov/DOG/general information/class injection wells.htm ¹⁰⁰ US-EPA, Region 9: Water Programs - Underground Injection Control (UIC) http://www.epa.gov/region9/water/groundwater/uic.html ¹⁰¹ California Department of Conservation, 1981. Drilling and Operating Oil, Gas, and Geothermal Wells in an H2S Environment. ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/oil/publications/m10.pdf ¹⁰² California Department of Conservation, 2006. Blowout Prevention in California. PT 1 (3 MB) ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/oil/publications/M07 p1.pdf PT 2 (12.6 MB) ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/oil/publications/M07 p2.pdf PT 3 (11.4 MB) ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/oil/publications/M07 p3.pdf National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc ¹⁰³ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc US-EPA, Appendix 6A Composition of Crude Oil and Refined Products http://www.epa.gov/region6/6en/xp/lppapp6a.pdf Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School, http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf Hazardous Materials Response and Assessment Division, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 1992. AN INTRODUCTION to COASTAL HABITATS and BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES for OIL SPILL RESPONSE, Chapter 2: Oil Behavior and Toxicity - http://archive.orr.noaa.gov/oilaids/monterey/Chapter2.pdf ¹⁰⁴ National Academy of Sciences, 2001. Environmental Performance of Tanker Designs in Collision and Grounding: Method for Comparision -- Special Report 259. http://fermat.nap.edu/books/0309072409/html National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc ¹⁰⁵ U.S. Government Accountability Office, July 21, 2005. Oil And Gas Development: Increased Permitting Activity Has Lessened BLM's Ability to Meet Its Environmental Protection Responsibilities http://www.gao.gov/htext/d05418.html ¹⁰⁶ Financial Times, October 10, 2006. Quest for oil goes to the ends of the earth. Financial Times, October 10, 2006. Costs and dangers rise on the road to an exploration. The Minerals Management Service, Gulf of Mexico Offshore Region, September 2006, Effects of Oil and Gas Exploration and Development at Selected Continental Slope Sites in the Gulf of Mexico ¹⁰⁷ Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection, 2001. A SEA OF TROUBLES GESAMP REPORTS AND STUDIES No. 70. http://gesamp.imo.org/no70/index.htm ¹⁰⁸ MCCRARY, M.D., D.E. PANZER, & M.O. PIERSON. 2003. Oil and gas operations offshore California: Status, risks, and safety. Marine Ornithology 31: 43-49. http://www.marineornithology.org/PDF/31 1/31 1 6 mccrary.pdf

¹⁰⁹ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects

http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc

Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School,

http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf

CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF

¹¹⁰CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF

¹¹¹ International Maritime Organization, 2005. Flyer: International Shipping Carrier of World Trade. http://www.imo.org/includes/blastDataOnly.asp/data_id=12908/IntShippingFlyerfinal.pdf

UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ON TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT, July 11, 2005. REVIEW OF MARITIME TRANSPORT, 2005.

http://www.unctad.org/Templates/webflyer.asp?docid=6486&intItemID=3588&lang=1&mode=downloads

¹¹² International Maritime Organization, September 2006. International Shipping and World Trade Facts and figures. http://www.imo.org/includes/blastDataOnly.asp/data_id%3D15659/InternationalShippingandWorldTrade-factsandfigures.pdf

¹¹³ H. Bovensmann, V. Eyring, K. Franke, A. Lauer, M. Schreier, A. Richter, & J. P. Burrows, 2006. EMISSIONS OF INTERNATIONAL SHIPPING AS SEEN BY SATELLITES. European Space Agency Atmospheric Sciences Conference, ESRIN, Frascati, Italy, May 08-12, 2006

http://earth.esa.int/workshops/atmos2006/participants/543/paper_ESA-SP-2006_SeaKLim_final_update.pdf S. Dalsøren, Jun 2004, XX QUADRENNIAL OZONE SYMPOSIUM, Kos, Greece. Poster Presentation: Emissions from International Sea Transportation and Environmental Impact. Oral presentation: Surface level ozone changes induced by stratospheric ozone changes.

http://www.geo.uio.no/forskning/atmosfare/prosjekter/CHEMCLIM/fig/StigKOSposter.pdf

Corbett, J.J. & H.W. Koehler, 2003. Updated emissions from ocean shipping. JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 108, NO. D20, 4650. http://www.ocean.udel.edu/cms/jcorbett/CorbettKoehlerJGR2003.pdf Øyvind Endresen, Eirik Sørga°rd, Jostein K. Sundet, Stig B. Dalsøren, Ivar S. A. Isaksen, Tore F. Berglen, & Gjermund Gravir, 2003. Emission from international sea transportation and environmental impact, JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 108, NO. D17, 4560. http://folk.uio.no/stigbd/2002JD002898.pdf ¹¹⁴ Bovensmann et al, 2006. EMISSIONS OF INTERNATIONAL SHIPPING AS SEEN BY SATELLITES. ESA

Atmopsheric Sciences Conference, ESRIN, Frascati, Italy, May 08-12, 2006

¹¹⁵ Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, December 2004. USED OIL IN BUNKER FUEL: A REVIEW OF POTENTIAL HUMAN HEALTH IMPLICATIONS.

http://www.oehha.ca.gov/risk/exposure assess/bunker.html

¹¹⁶Øyvind Endresen, Eirik Sørga^ord, Jostein K. Sundet, Stig B. Dalsøren, Ivar S. A. Isaksen, Tore F. Berglen, & Gjermund Gravir, 2003. Emission from international sea transportation and environmental impact, JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 108, NO. D17, 4560. http://folk.uio.no/stigbd/2002JD002898.pdf

¹¹⁷ California Air Resources Board - Goods Movement and Ports http://www.arb.ca.gov/gmp/gmp.htm US-EPA Region 9, Marine Vessels and Air Quality http://www.epa.gov/Region9/air/marinevessel/index.html Santa Barbara County Air Pollution Control District, Air Pollution from Marine Shipping - Local Studies and Actions http://www.sbcapcd.org/itg/shipstudies.htm

NRDC, August 2004. Harboring Pollution: Strategies to Clean Up U.S. Ports

http://www.nrdc.org/air/pollution/ports/contents.asp

AP, April 20, 2006. California air board approves plan to reduce shipping pollution. San Francisco Chronicle. http://sfgate.com/cgi-bin/article.cgi?f=/n/a/2006/04/20/state/n174652D08.DTL

San Francisco Chronicle, March 4, 2006. SHIPPING'S DIRTY CARGO: Port pollution poses huge health threat, says union. http://www.sfgate.com/cgi-bin/article.cgi?f=/c/a/2006/03/04/BUGCQHIA0D1.DTL

G. Chen, L. G. Huey, M. Trainer, D. Nicks, J. Corbett, T. Ryerson, D. Parrish, J. A. Neuman, J. Nowak, D. Tanner, J. Holloway, C. Brock, J. Crawford, J. R. Olson, A. Sullivan, R. Weber, S. Schauffler, S. Donnelly, E. Atlas, J.

Roberts, F. Flocke, G. Hübler, and F. Fehsenfeld, 2005. An investigation of the chemistry of ship emission plumes during ITCT 2002. JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 110, D10S90.

http://www.ocean.udel.edu/cms/jcorbett/ChemistryofshipJGR2004.pdf

¹¹⁸ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc

¹¹⁹ National Academy of Sciences, 2001. Environmental Performance of Tanker Designs in Collision and Grounding: Method for Comparision -- Special Report 259. http://fermat.nap.edu/books/0309072409/html

¹²⁰ Association of Oil Pipe Lines

http://www.aopl.org/

¹²¹ GAO, July 2004. PIPELINE SAFETY: Management of the Office of Pipeline Safety's Enforcement Program Needs Further Strengthening. http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d04801.pdf ¹²² CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹²³ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc For a discussion of corrosion issues in California pipelines ALSO SEE: CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹²⁴ Congressional Research Service, Updated February 5, 2004. Pipeline Security: An Overview of Federal Activities and Current Policy Issues. http://ncseonline.org/NLE/CRS/abstract.cfm?NLEid=289 ¹²⁵ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc ¹²⁶GAO, July 2004. PIPELINE SAFETY: Management of the Office of Pipeline Safety's Enforcement Program Needs Further Strengthening. http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d04801.pdf ¹²⁷ GAO, May 2000. Pipeline Safety: The Office of Pipeline Safety is Changing How it Oversees the Pipeline Industry. http://www.gao.gov/new.items/rc00128.pdf ¹²⁸ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc ¹²⁹ Report of the National Energy Policy Development Group, 2001. http://www.whitehouse.gov/energy/ ¹³⁰ Austin American Statesman, beginning July 21, 2001. Special Report: Pipelines the Invisible Danger. http://www.statesman.com/specialreports/content/specialreports/pipelines/ ¹³¹ Data for ammonia, carbon dioxide, liquid petroleum gas, natural gas and petrochemicals not used in refining, etc. have been subtracted from the reported totals. U.S. Department of Transportation, Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, Office of Pipeline Safety, Pipeline Statistics. http://ops.dot.gov/stats/stats.htm ¹³² CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹³³ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹³⁴ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc ¹³⁵ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003, JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617. http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School, http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf US-EPA. Industrial Water Pollution Controls. Effluent Guidelines for Oil and Gas Extraction (Synthetic-Based Drilling Fluids) http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/guide/sbf/ ¹³⁶ Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, 2001. Fact Sheet: Health Effects of Diesel Exhaust http://www.oehha.ca.gov/public info/facts/dieselfacts.html California Air Resources Board & Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, June 1998. STAFF REPORT: INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR RULEMAKING: PROPOSED IDENTIFICATION OF DIESEL EXHAUST AS A TOXIC AIR CONTAMINANT. http://www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/dieseltac/staffrpt.pdf ¹³⁷ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF 45

¹³⁸ US-EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project, October 2000. Profile of the Oil and Gas Extraction Industry, Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance, 165pp.

http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/publications/assistance/sectors/notebooks/oil.html ¹³⁹ For an excellent overview (with the caveat that lead is no longer used in gasoline in North America) SEE: OSHA TECHNICAL MANUAL, SECTION IV: CHAPTER 2, PETROLEUM REFINING PROCESSES. http://www.osha.gov/dts/osta/otm/otm iv/otm iv 2.html How stuff works. How Oil Refining Works. by Craig C. Freudenrich, Ph.D. http://science.howstuffworks.com/oil-refining.htm ¹⁴⁰ US-EPA, TRI Explorer tool. Releases: Chemical Report for California Petroleum Industry. Data source: 2004 Data Update as of June 9, 2006. TRIs are not required to be submitted for oil exploration and production http://www.epa.gov/cgibin/broker?view=STCH&trilib=TRIQ1&sort= VIEW &sort fmt=1&state=06&county=All+counties&chemical=Al l+chemicals&industry=29&year=2004&tab rpt=1&fld=RELLBY&ONDISPD=Y&OTHDISPD=Y&fld=TSFDSP& OFFDISPD=Y&OTHOFFD=Y& service=oiaa& program=xp tri.sasmacr.tristart.macro ¹⁴¹ O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003. JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617. http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf citing: US-EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project, October 2000. Profile of the Oil and Gas Extraction Industry, Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance, 165pp. http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/publications/assistance/sectors/notebooks/oil.html ¹⁴² O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003. JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617, http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf, Citing: Environmental Defense Fund, November 1995. Ranking Refineries: What Do We Know About Oil Refinery Pollution From Right-to-Know Data? By Lois N. Epstein, Stephen Greetham, & Anna Karuba. http://www.environmentaldefense.org/article.cfm?contentid=247 ¹⁴³CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹⁴⁴ Worrell, Ernst, & Christina Galitsky, March 2004. Profile of the Petroleum Refining Industry in California. Lawrence Berkelev National Laboratory, Environmental Energy Technologies Division, LBNL-55450. http://industrial-energy.lbl.gov/node/155 ¹⁴⁵ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF EPA NAAQS (National Ambient Air Quality Standards) inventories - California. These summarized data are for 1996. http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naags/ozone/areas/plant/stcapln.htm, SEE SELECTION: All Plant Level Emissions in State by County ¹⁴⁶ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF EPA NAAQS (National Ambient Air Quality Standards) inventories - California. These summarized data are for 1996. http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naags/ozone/areas/plant/stcapln.htm, SEE SELECTION: All Plant Level Emissions in State by County ¹⁴⁷ Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School, http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf ¹⁴⁸ The excerpted Table in this footnote shows Total Organic Gas (TOG) and Reactive Organic Gas (ROG) releases from California's oil industry. These compounds are similar to what the US-EPA defines as VOCs. 10/15/2006 PACE 1 EMISSIONS BY SUMMARY CATEGORY (ALL SOURCES) DATABASE - 2003 AIR BASIN: SOUTH COAST NC EICSUM TOT ENSBYSUMCAT-TOT (AIR BASIN) DIVISION EMISSIONS (TONS PER DAY) MAJOR CATEGORY SUNNARY CATEGORY TOG ROG CO NOX SOX PH FM10 OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION (COMBUSTION) PETROLEUM REFINING (COMBUSTION) .17 1.69 2.22 3.59 .88 1.31 .69 13.62 1.18 .03 .17 .17 1.66

THE BOTTOM OF THE BARREL

DETROLEUM PRODUCTION AND MARKETING								
OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION	5.23	2.55	.02	.05	.00	.00	. 00	. 00
DETROLEUM REFINING	6.49	4.68	8.27	4.74	11.99	1.64	1.08	.87
DETROLEUM MARKETING	22.14	21.15	. 48	.05	.00	.03	. 03	.02
OTHER (DETROLEUM DRODUCTION AND MARKETING)	.01	.01	.00	.00	.00	.00	.00	.00
*TOTAL PETROLEUN PRODUCTION AND MARKETING	33.87	28.39	8.77	4.84	11.99	1.67	1.11	. 90

California Air Resources Board, California Emissions Inventory Development and Reporting System (CEIDARS), Emissions for Aggregated Stationary, Area-wide, Mobile, and Natural Sources Report Page to produce area source reports by EIC. http://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/dist/rpts/sub_eic.php

For an explanation of the meaning of the terms TOG and ROG see: California Air Resources Board, FACT SHEET #1: Development of Organic Emission Estimates For California's Emission Inventory and Air Quality Models. http://www.arb.ca.gov/ei/speciate/FACTSHEETS_MODEL_EI_Speciation_TOG_8_00.doc

¹⁴⁹ Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School, http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf ¹⁵⁰ California Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Toxic Substances Control, Office of Pollution Prevention and Technology Development, January 2006. CALIFORNIA PETROLEUM REFINERY HAZARDOUS WASTE SOURCE REDUCTION 2002 ASSESSMENT REPORT. http://www.dtsc.ca.gov/PollutionPrevention/upload/P2 REP SB14-Refineries.pdf ¹⁵¹ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹⁵² Epstein PR, & Selber J. (Eds), March 2002. Oil: A Life Cycle Analysis of Its Health and Environmental Impacts. The Center for Health and the Global Environment, Harvard Medical School, http://chge.med.harvard.edu/publications/documents/oilfullreport.pdf ¹⁵³ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF O'Rourke, Dara and Sarah Connolly, 2003. JUST OIL? THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF OIL PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 28:587-617, http://nature.berkeley.edu/orourke/PDF/JustOil-final.pdf ¹⁵⁴ CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF RAND Corporation, August 28, 2003. New Forces at Work in Refining: Industry Views of Critical Business and Operations Trends. http://www.rand.org/pubs/monograph reports/MR1707/index.html CEC, JUNE 2005. Petroleum Infrastructure Environmental Performance Report CEC-700-2005-012 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-700-2005-012/CEC-700-2005-012.PDF ¹⁵⁶ California Air Resources Board - 2006 Almanac. Statewide Annual Average Top 25 For 2005 Pollutant: ROG. http://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/top25cat.php, Select ROG (raw organic gases = volatile organic compounds) and set year span for 2005 to 2005, total = 57.3% of the top 25 emitters. ¹⁵⁷ Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, January 17, 2006. Atmospheric Chemistry of Gasoline-Related Emissions: Formation of Pollutants of Potential Concern. http://www.oehha.ca.gov/air/gasemiss.html ¹⁵⁸ California Air Resources Board & Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, June 1998. STAFF REPORT: INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR RULEMAKING: PROPOSED IDENTIFICATION OF DIESEL EXHAUST AS A TOXIC AIR CONTAMINANT. http://www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/dieseltac/staffrpt.pdf Also See: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, NOVEMBER 14, 2003. CHEMICALS KNOWN TO THE STATE TO CAUSE CANCER OR REPRODUCTIVE TOXICITY. http://www.oehha.org/prop65/CRNR notices/list changes/111403lsta.html ¹⁵⁹ American Lung Association, State of the Air 2006. http://lungaction.org/reports/sota06_full.html California Summary Table. http://lungaction.org/reports/SOTA06 stateozone.html?geo area id=06 US-EPA NAAOS (National Ambient Air Quality Standards), Green Book - Nonattainment Areas for Criteria Pollutants. http://www.epa.gov/oar/oagps/greenbk/index.html

¹⁶⁰ California Air Resources Board, The California Almanac of Emissions and Air Quality - 2006 Edition. http://www.arb.ca.gov/aqd/almanac/almanac06/almanac06.htm

California Air Resources Board - California Air Quality Data, updated August 31, 2006.

http://www.arb.ca.gov/aqd/aqdpage.htm

California Air Resources Board - ARB Databases. http://www.arb.ca.gov/html/databases.htm ¹⁶¹ Climate Action Team, March 2006. Final Report to Governor Schwarzenegger and the Legislature. http://www.climatechange.ca.gov/climate_action_team/reports/2006-04-03_FINAL_CAT_REPORT.PDF California Climate Change Advisory Committee,

http://www.energy.ca.gov/global_climate_change/04-CCAC-1_advisory_committee/documents/index.html

¹⁶² Climate Action Team, March 2006. Final Report to Governor Schwarzenegger and the Legislature., and associated documentation. http://www.climatechange.ca.gov/climate_action_team/reports/index.html Potential Consequences of Climate Variability and Change for California. The California Regional Assessment. A report of the California Regional Assessment Group, for the USGCRP. Draft final report (dtd June 2002) from the California Regional Climate Impacts Assessment, University of California, Santa Barbara.

¹⁶³ National Academy of Sciences, 2003. Oil in the Sea III: Inputs, Fates, and Effects http://newton.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html#toc

¹⁶⁴ Oil and Gas Journal, October 16, 2006. MARKET WATCH: Crude prices climb; OPEC calls meeting. Financial Times, September 26, 2006. Editorial comment: Spot price fall does not herald cheap oil -US Edition. (Going up, Going down - London Edition)

Green Car Congress, September 12, 2006. EIA Expects Oil to Hold Around \$70 per Barrel for 2007; US Consumption to Rise 2%.

EIA, September 12th, 2006. Short-Term Energy Outlook. http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/steo/pub/contents.html Skinner, R. (Oxford Institute for Energy Studies), June 2006. Background speaking notes To introduce "Power and Order: the Energy Dimension" For the Global Policy Council, "Global Power and International Order in the 21st Century" http://www.oxfordenergy.org/presentations/Berlin_June_06-1.pdf

¹⁶⁵ http://gov.ca.gov/index.php?/executive-order/1861/

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/postquery?bill number=ab 32&sess=CUR

¹⁶⁶ CEC, April 28, 2005. Forecasts of California Transportation Energy Demand 2005-2025 - Staff Report.

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-600-2005-008/CEC-600-2005-008.PDF

¹⁶⁷ Grant, W. 1995. Autos, Smog and Pollution Control: The politics of air quality management in California. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Williams, J.C., 1997. Energy and the making of modern California. University of Akron, Akron, Ohio ¹⁶⁸ Climate Action Team, March 2006. Final Report to Governor Schwarzenegger and the Legislature. http://www.climatechange.ca.gov/climate_action_team/reports/2006-04-03_FINAL_CAT_REPORT.PDF California Climate Change Advisory Committee,

http://www.energy.ca.gov/global_climate_change/04-CCAC-1_advisory_committee/documents/index.html ¹⁶⁹ http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/postquery?bill_number=ab_1493&sess=0102&house=B&author=pavley ¹⁷⁰ NewScientist, September 22, 2006. California faces uphill battle on car emissions

AP, September 25, 2006. Judge says lawsuit over California auto emissions can go forward

http://www.mercurynews.com/mld/mercurynews/news/breaking news/15607417.htm

AP, September 15, 2006. California defends rules on auto emissions of greenhouse gases

http://www.mercurynews.com/mld/mercurynews/news/local/states/california/northern_california/15529641.htm

¹⁷¹ http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/postquery?bill_number=ab_1012&sess=CUR&house=B&author=nation

¹⁷² p98. Climate Action Team, March 2006. Final Report to Governor Schwarzenegger and the Legislature.

¹⁷³ The Associated Press, June 30, 2006. House votes to end offshore drilling ban: Measure passes by wide margin; bill's chances in Senate are uncertain

¹⁷⁴ The Pembina Institute, August 1, 2006. Death by a Thousand Cuts: Impacts of In Situ Oil Sands On Alberta's Boreal Forest, http://www.oilsandswatch.org/

National Energy Board, June 2006. Canada's Oil Sands: Opportunities and Challenges to 2015: An Update. Released October 11, 2006.

http://www.neb.gc.ca/energy/EnergyReports/EMAOilSandsOpportunitiesChallenges2015_2006/EMAOilSandsOpportunities2015Canada2006_e.pdf

Smallman, S., 2003. Canada's New Role in North American Energy Security. Security and Defense Studies Review. Fall 2003, **3**(2): 247-260. http://www.ndu.edu/chds/journal/PDF/2003-0403/Smallman-essay.pdf ¹⁷⁵ ASPO, JANUARY 2004. Canadian Tarsands. by John Busby. NEWSLETTER No 37.

http://www.peakoil.net/newsletter/NL37/Newsletter37.html

- Strausz, O.P., and Elizabeth M. Lown, "The Chemistry of Alberta Oil Sands, Bitumens, and Heavy Oils.", 695 pp., Alberta Energy Research Institute, ¹⁷⁶ The Pembina Institute, August 1, 2006. Death by a Thousand Cuts: Impacts of In Situ Oil Sands On Alberta's Boreal Forest, http://www.oilsandswatch.org/ Hanus, S., February 20, 2004. OIL SANDS RECLAMATION: Associated challenges and mechanisms ensuring compliance. CABREE (Centre for Applied Business Research in Energy and Environment, University of Alberta). Union of Concerned Scientists, 2003. How Coal Works. http://www.ucsusa.org/clean energy/renewable energy/page.cfm?pageID=60 - Williams, R., H., and, E. D. Larson, 2003. A comparison of direct and indirect liquefaction technologies for making fluid fuels from coal. Energy for Sustainable Development. 7(4):103-129. December 2003. - Larson, E. D., and R. Tingjin, 2003. Synthetic fuel production by indirect coal liquefaction. Energy for Sustainable Development. 7(4):79-102. December 2003. - National Research Council, 2002. Coal Waste Impoundments: Risks, Responses, and Alternatives. Committee on Coal Waste Impoundments, Committee on Earth Resources, Board on Earth Sciences and Resources, 244 pp. http://books.nap.edu/catalog/10212.html - U.S. Department of Energy-Office of Fossil Energy, March 2004. Strategic Significance of America's Oil Shale Resource. Volume I: Assessment of Strategic Issues. 45pp. - U.S. Department of Energy-Office of Fossil Energy, March 2004. Strategic Significance of America's Oil Shale Resource. Volume II: Oil Shale Resources Technology and Economics. 57pp. - U.S. Bureau of Land Management, Solid Minerals Program on the Nations Federal Lands. http://www.blm.gov/nhp/pubs/brochures/minerals/ - EPA, Undated. Mid-Atlantic Integrated Assessment: Coal Mining http://www.epa.gov/maia/html/coal-mining.html - U.S. Department of the Interior, Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation and Enforcement (OSMRE), Mountaintop mining information. http://www.osmre.gov/mtindex.htm - The Environmental Literacy Council, April 7, 2004. Coal. http://www.enviroliteracy.org/article.php/18.html - The Environmental Literacy Council, March 31, 2004. Coal Mining. http://www.enviroliteracy.org/article.php/1122.html - Snape, C. (Editor), 1995. Composition, Geochemistry and Conversion of Oil Shales. NATO ASI Series. Series C: Mathematical and Physical Sciences, Vol 455, 505pp., Kluwer Academic Publishers - Dyn, J.R., Oil Shale. American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Energy Minerals Division. http://emd.aapg.org/technical areas/oil shale.cfm - World Energy Council: Survey Of Energy Resources 2001: Oil Shale. http://www.worldenergy.org/wec-geis/publications/reports/ser/shale/shale.asp ¹⁷⁸ Leading experts have long recommended that the simplest and most significant change that could be made to rapidly reduce our demand for oil both in California and the United States is to significantly increase the required average fuel efficiency of America's passenger cars, regulated under the Federal CAFÉ (Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards) program. This program was successful in nearly doubling the fuel efficiency of passenger vehicles after the oil embargoes of the 1970s. The National Academy of Sciences has noted that the average fuel economy of passenger vehicles could be increased by as much as 40%. (National Academy of Sciences, 2002. Effectiveness and Impact of Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) Standards.

http://newton.nap.edu/books/0309076013/html) However, California is pre-empted by Federal jurisdiction from mandating improvements in vehicle fuel efficiency. This leaves Californian's with few choices.

Financial Times, October 15 2006. Comment: To extend the age of oil, we must save fuel now. By Paolo Scaroni, Chief Executive, Eni.

¹⁷⁹ Energy Information Administration, Domestic Crude Oil First Purchase Prices by Area,

http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/pet/pet_pri_dfp1_k_a.htm

WorldOil.com, Industry Statistics http://www.worldoil.com/infocenter/Statistics_main.asp

Oil Market Report, http://omrpublic.iea.org/,

Energy Information Administration, Petroleum Navigator, http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/pet/hist/wtotworldw.htm, ¹⁸⁰ http://www.energy.ca.gov/fuels/petroleum dependence/documents/index.html,

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2003 energypolicy/index.html,

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2004_policy_update/index.html, http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005_energypolicy/index.html

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/postquery?bill_number=ab_1007&sess=CUR&house=B&author=pavley ¹⁸³ California Biomass Collaborative, September 2006. Preliminary Roadmap for Biomass Development in California Now Available for Review. http://biomass.ucdavis.edu/

¹⁸⁴ McWilliams, C. 1949 (1999 repr.). California: The Great Exception. University of California Press. 391pp. http://www.ucpress.edu/books/pages/8460.html

¹⁸⁵ U.S. Census Bureau: State and County QuickFacts. http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06000.html Demographic Research Unit of the California Department of Finance, March 2, 2006. E-7 California Population Estimates, with Components of Change and Crude Rates, July 1, 1900–2005,

http://www.dof.ca.gov/HTML/DEMOGRAP/ReportsPapers/documents/E-7 1900-Jul05.xls

California Statistical Abstract (January 2006): Table B-1 — Population, Total & Civilian, California & the United States http://www.dof.ca.gov/HTML/FS_DATA/STAT-ABS/tables/b1.xls, Table A-1 — Land & Water Areas, California & Counties http://www.dof.ca.gov/HTML/FS_DATA/STAT-ABS/tables/a1.xls

¹⁸⁶ Public Policy Institute of California, September 2006. California 2025. Just the Facts: CALIFORNIA'S FUTURE POPULATION. http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/jtf/JTF_FuturePopulationJTF.pdf

Landis. John D. and Michael Reilly, August 1, 2003. How We Will Grow: Baseline Projections of the Growth of California's Urban Footprint through the Year 2100. Institute of Urban and Regional Development, Working Paper. http://repositories.cdlib.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1025&context=iurd

¹⁸⁷ California Department of Finance, Top Countries Ranked by its Gross Domestic Product, California's World Ranking

http://www.dof.ca.gov/HTML/FS_DATA/LatestEconData/documents/BBRANK_000.XLS

¹⁸⁸ Williams, J.C., 1997. Energy and the making of modern California. University of Akron, Akron, Ohio, 465pp.

¹⁸¹ http://www.energy.ca.gov/bioenergy action plan/

¹⁸² http://energy.ca.gov/ab1007/index.html,